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The following is Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of the operating and financial results of BlackPearl Resources 

Inc. (“BlackPearl” or “the Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2016. These results are being compared with the year 

ended December 31, 2015. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial state-

ments for the year ended December 31, 2016, together with the accompanying notes.

All dollar amounts are referenced in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where otherwise noted. The consolidated financial 

statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as is required under 

Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

Throughout this MD&A the calculation of barrels of oil equivalent (boe) is based on a conversion rate of six thousand cubic 

feet (mcf) of natural gas to one barrel of oil. Boe may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. A boe conversion ratio of 

6 mcf:1 bbl is based on an energy equivalence conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip and is not intended 

to represent a value equivalence at the wellhead.

The following is a summary of the abbreviations that may have been used in this document:

Oil and Natural Gas Liquids Natural Gas

bbl barrel Mcf thousand cubic feet

bbls/d barrels per day MMcf million cubic feet

Mbbls/d thousand barrels per day Mcf/d thousand cubic feet per day

MMbbls million barrels Bcf billion cubic feet

NGLs natural gas liquids MMBtu million british thermal units

boe barrel of oil equivalent GJ gigajoule

boe/d barrel of oil equivalent per day

WTI West Texas Intermediate (a light oil reference price)

WCS Western Canadian Select (a heavy oil reference price)

SAGD Steam Assisted Gravity Drainage (a thermal recovery process)

ASP Alkali, Surfactant, Polymer

EOR Enhanced Oil Recovery

EBITDA
(adjusted)

Comprehensive income (loss) before income tax, financing charges, non-cash items, unrealized gain or losses on 
risk management contracts and income/loss attributed to assets acquired or disposed as defined in the Company’s 
lending agreement. 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Throughout this MD&A, the Company uses terms “funds flow from operations”, “operating netback” and “net debt”. These 

terms do not have any standardized meaning as prescribed by GAAP and, therefore, may not be comparable with the calcula-

tion of similar measures presented by other issuers.

Funds flow from operations is calculated based on cash flow from operating activities before decommissioning costs incurred 

and changes in non-cash working capital related to operations. Management utilizes funds flow from operations as a key 

measure to assess operating performance and the ability of the Company to finance operating activities, capital expenditures 

and debt repayments. Funds flow from operations is not intended to represent cash flow from operating activities or other 

measures of financial performance in accordance with GAAP. The following table reconciles non-GAAP measure funds flow 

from operations to cash flow from operating activities, the nearest GAAP measure.
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Three months ended
December 31

Year Ended
December 31

($000s) 2016 2015 2016 2015

Cash flow from operating activities (1) 15,079 12,179 42,491 62,344

Add (deduct):

Decommissioning costs incurred 26 152 580 531

Changes in non-cash working capital related to operations 693 (1,433) 1,704 (13,913)

Funds flow from operations (2) 15,798 10,898 44,775 48,962

(1)	� Cash flow from operating activities is a GAAP measure and has a standardized meaning prescribed by Canadian GAAP.

(2)	� Funds flow from operations is a non-GAAP measure. Funds flow from operations does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and, therefore, 
may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies in the oil and gas industry.

Operating netback is calculated as oil and gas revenues less royalties, production costs and transportation costs on a dollar 

basis and divided by total production for the period on a boe basis. Oil and gas revenues exclude the impact of realized gains 

on risk management contracts. Operating netback is a non-GAAP measure commonly used in the oil and gas industry to 

assist in measuring operating performance against prior periods on a comparable basis. Our operating netback calculation is 

consistent with the definition found in the Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation (COGE) Handbook.

Net debt is calculated as long-term debt plus working capital for the period ended. Working capital consists of cash and cash 

equivalents, trade and other receivables, inventory, prepaid expenses and deposits, fair value of risk management assets less 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities, current portion of decommissioning liabilities, deferred consideration and fair value 

of risk management liabilities. Management utilizes net debt as a key measure to assess the liquidity of the Company. The 

following table reconciles non-GAAP measure net debt to long-term debt, the nearest GAAP measure.

($000s) December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Long-term debt (1) – 88,000

Add (deduct) working capital:

Cash and cash equivalents (5,368) (2,300)

Trade and other receivables (13,391) (10,801)

Inventory (46) (605)

Prepaid expenses and deposits (705) (1,283)

Fair value of risk management assets – (10,548)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17,950 13,939

Current portion of decommissioning liabilities 644 535

Current portion of deferred consideration 404 –

Fair value of risk management liabilities 5,507 –

Net debt (2) 4,995 76,937

(1)	 Long-term debt is a GAAP measure and has a standardized meaning prescribed by Canadian GAAP.

(2)	� Net debt is a non-GAAP measure. Net debt does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and, therefore, may not be comparable to similar 
measures used by other companies in the oil and gas industry.

Management believes the presentation of the non-GAAP measures above provide useful information to investors and share-

holders as the measures provide increased transparency and the ability to better analyze the performance against prior 

periods on a comparable basis.

Additional information relating to the Company, including its Annual Information Form, is available on SEDAR at  

www.sedar.com.

This MD&A contains forward-looking information and statements. At the end of this MD&A is an advisory on forward-looking 

information and statements.

The effective date of this MD&A is February 22, 2017.
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OVERVIEW

BlackPearl is a Canadian-based oil and natural gas company whose common shares are traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange 

(TSX) under the symbol “PXX”. The Corporation’s Swedish Depository Receipts trade on the NASDAQ Stockholm Exchange 

under the symbol “PXXS”. BlackPearl’s primary focus is on heavy oil and oil sands projects in Western Canada.

BlackPearl’s current core properties are:

●	� Onion Lake, Saskatchewan – a conventional heavy oil property as well as a multi-phase thermal project with the first 

phase constructed and put on production in 2015;

●	� Mooney, Alberta – a conventional heavy oil property currently developed using both horizontal drilling and ASP 

flooding; and

●	� Blackrod, Alberta – a bitumen property, in the exploration and evaluation phase, located in the Athabasca oil sands 

region of which the Company is currently operating a pilot project using the SAGD recovery process.

These core properties provide the Company with a combination of short-term cash flow generation and medium and longer-

term reserves and production growth on multi-phase low decline projects using both EOR and SAGD thermal recovery 

processes.

2016 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

●	� During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company sold a gross overriding royalty interest on its Onion Lake property 

for cash proceeds of $55 million whereby the Company will pay approximately 1.75% royalty on production from 

substantially all of its Onion Lake lands. The proceeds of the sale were used to re-pay bank indebtedness, which will 

free up borrowing capacity on our credit facilities that is expected to be used to partially fund the expansion of our 

thermal operations at Onion Lake in addition to continued development of our other core projects.

●	� In 2016, the Company received regulatory and environmental approval from the Alberta Energy Regulator and 

Alberta government for its 80,000 bbls/d Blackrod SAGD commercial development application.

●	� During 2016, oil and gas production averaged 10,077 boe/d; a 21% increase compared to 2015. The increase was 

mainly attributable to the first phase of the Onion Lake thermal project which has been on production for over a 

year. During 2016, production from this project averaged 5,520 bbls/d, with a steam to oil ratio of 2.78 and during the 

fourth quarter production from the Onion Lake thermal project averaged 6,119 bbls/d.

●	� Crude oil prices were lower in 2016, with WTI oil prices averaging US$43.32 per bbl compared to US$48.80 per bbl 

during 2015. The decline in crude oil prices was partially offset by realized gains on crude oil hedging contracts. For 

the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company realized gains of $10.8 million from these contracts.

●	� Due to low oil prices, the Company limited capital spending in 2016 and used the majority of its cash flow from 

operating activities to reduce debt. Capital expenditures during the year were $10.9 million, with approximately $8.2 

million spent at the Onion Lake thermal project related to facility improvements and planning costs for the second 

phase of the project, $1.1 million spent at Onion Lake related to the drilling of three gross conventional heavy oil 

wells and $1.6 million spent in other areas.

●	� Oil and gas sales during 2016 were $109.1 million and funds flow from operations (a non-GAAP measure) were $44.8 

million. For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company incurred a net loss of $19.9 million.
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●	� As a result of the Company’s cost reduction initiative, operating and transportation costs averaged $14.68/bbl in 

2016, a 30% decrease from 2015.

●	� During 2016, 310,669 common shares were issued pursuant to the exercise of stock options which generated net 

proceeds of $0.3 million for the Company. The Company did not undertake any equity issuances during 2016.

●	� During the fourth quarter of 2016 the Company’s lending syndicate completed their semi-annual review of our 

credit facilities and agreed to maintain the borrowing amount available to the Company. At December 31, 2016, 

BlackPearl had a working capital deficiency of $5.0 million and no bank debt, leaving $117.5 million available to be 

drawn under the Company’s existing credit facilities. During 2016, the Company repaid the entire outstanding bank 

debt balance of $88 million which was owed at the beginning of the year.

●	� BlackPearl proved plus probable oil and gas reserves were 312 million boe, before royalties, as at December 31, 

2016. This amount was determined by BlackPearl’s independent reserve evaluators, Sproule Unconventional Limited 

(“Sproule”). The estimated pre-tax net present value of the future net cash flows of the proved plus probable reserves, 

discounted at 10% per annum was $2.1 billion ($6.12 per common share).

●	� Sproule also attributed, on a risked basis, contingent resources (best estimate) of 499 million boe, before royalties, 

to the Company’s working interest in its three core properties (see cautionary statement on contingent resources on 

page 34). The estimated pre-tax net present value of the risk adjusted future net cash flows of contingent resources 

(best estimate), discounted at 10% per annum was $1.1 billion.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

($000s, except where noted) 2016 2015 2014

Production (boe/d) (1) 10,077 8,330 9,287

Oil and gas sales 109,066 96,271 228,345

Realized gain on risk management contracts 10,793 37,227 1,870

Unrealized gain (loss) on risk management contracts (15,283) (11,303) 20,628

Net income (loss) (19,928) (46,793) 26,825

Per share – basic and diluted ($) (0.06) (0.14) 0.08

Cash flow from operating activities 42,491 62,344 78,388

Funds flow from operations (2) 44,775 48,962 89,723

Long-term debt – 88,000 29,000

Capital expenditures 10,925 68,508 235,366

Total assets at year end 732,404 808,344 837,773

Common shares outstanding (000s) 335,949 335,638 335,638

(1)	� Includes test production from the Blackrod SAGD pilot. All sales and expenses from the Blackrod SAGD pilot are being recorded as an adjustment to the 
capitalized costs of the project until the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the project is established. Technical feasibility and commercial 
viability is established when significant proved reserves are recognized and regulatory approval has been obtained.

(2)	� Funds flow from operations is a non-GAAP measure. Funds flow from operations does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and, therefore, 
may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies in the oil and gas industry.
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SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION

2016 2015

($000s, except where noted) Dec 31 Sep 30 Jun 30 Mar 31 Dec 31 Sep 30 Jun 30 Mar 31

Production (boe/d) (1) 10,479 10,951 9,698 9,166 9,521 7,478 8,051 8,269

Oil and gas sales 35,360 32,367 28,318 13,021 22,630 20,814 30,712 22,115

Oil sales ($/bbl) 38.83 34.15 34.44 16.77 27.65 35.02 47.52 32.05

Gas sales ($/mcf) 2.90 2.10 1.29 1.77 2.91 2.88 2.61 2.63

Oil and gas sales ($/boe) 38.61 33.87 34.03 16.67 27.45 34.05 45.37 31.25

Production & transportation costs 13,550 13,603 12,246 11,736 15,666 12,843 14,245 16,686

Production costs ($/boe) 12.11 12.13 13.23 12.35 17.77 20.04 19.86 22.48

Transportation costs ($/boe) 2.69 2.11 1.48 2.68 1.23 0.97 1.18 1.10

Gain (loss) on risk management contracts

Realized 578 2,137 1,958 6,120 10,334 7,940 5,245 13,708

Unrealized (5,676) (538) (8,597) (472) 1,778 11,826 (13,533) (11,374)

Net income (loss) (2,217) 556 (8,945) (9,322) (31,172) 5,402 (10,079) (10,944)

Per share, basic and diluted ($) (0.01) 0.00 (0.03) (0.03) (0.09) 0.01 (0.03) (0.03)

Capital expenditures 6,150 1,753 945 2,077 1,665 7,870 15,992 42,981

Cash flow from operating activities 15,079 16,441 7,184 3,787 12,179 14,216 12,100 23,849

Funds flow from operations (2) 15,798 14,202 11,497 3,278 10,898 10,156 14,968 12,940

Long-term debt – 67,000 80,000 86,000 88,000 97,000 94,000 78,000

Total assets (end of period) 732,404 773,206 782,591 795,336 808,344 861,107 864,926 866,018

Shares outstanding (000s) 335,949 335,647 335,647 335,638 335,638 335,638 335,638 335,638

Weighted average shares outstanding 

Basic 335,733 335,646 335,641 335,638 335,638 335,638 335,638 335,638

Diluted 340,686 337,959 335,641 335,638 335,638 335,638 335,638 335,638

(1)	� Includes test production from the Blackrod SAGD pilot. All sales and expenses from the Blackrod SAGD pilot are being recorded as an adjustment to the 
capitalized costs of the project until the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the project is established.

(2)	� Funds flow from operations is a non-GAAP measure. Funds flow from operations does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and, therefore, 
may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies in the oil and gas industry.

Fluctuations in quarterly oil and gas sales and net income (loss) over the last eight quarters are primarily attributable to the 

volatility in crude oil prices and changes in sales volumes from new drilling activity, partially offset by natural declines in 

production. Production volumes in Q4 2015 increased as a result of the start-up of commercial production from the first phase 

of the Onion Lake thermal project. The net loss incurred in Q4 2015 is mainly attributable to an impairment charge of $33 

million taken on our Mooney CGU.
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BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

Fluctuations in commodity prices have a significant influence on BlackPearl’s results of operation and financial condition. The 

following table shows selective market benchmark prices and foreign exchange rates to assist in understanding how these 

factors impact our performance.

Commodity Prices

Year Ended
December 31 2016 2015

2016 2015 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Average Crude Oil Prices

West Texas Intermediate (WTI) 
(US$/bbl) 43.32 48.80 49.29 44.94 45.59 33.45 42.18 46.43 57.94 48.63

Western Canadian Select (WCS) 
(Cdn$/bbl) 38.89 44.80 46.62 41.02 41.61 26.31 36.86 43.27 56.95 42.11

Differential – WCS/WTI (US$/bbl) 13.90 13.77 14.34 13.51 13.30 14.32 14.57 13.39 11.62 14.71

Differential – WCS/WTI (%) 32.1% 28.2% 29.1% 30.1% 29.2% 42.8% 34.5% 28.8% 20.1% 30.2%

Average Natural Gas Prices

AECO gas (Cdn$/GJ) 2.05 2.55 2.93 2.20 1.33 1.74 2.34 2.75 2.52 2.61

Average Foreign Exchange  
(US$ per Cdn$1) 0.757 0.782 0.750 0.766 0.776 0.727 0.749 0.764 0.813 0.806

Crude oil prices are based on supply and demand for oil which is generally tied to global economic growth, but is also influ-

enced by other factors such as political instability, market uncertainty, weather conditions, infrastructure constraints and 

government regulations. Crude oil in North America is commonly priced relative to the price of WTI oil, a light sweet crude 

with API gravity of about 40 degrees. Virtually all of BlackPearl’s production is heavy oil and bitumen and is typically priced 

relative to the Western Canadian Select oil price, which has an average gravity of about 20.5 degrees API.

Crude oil prices were lower in 2016 compared to 2015. WTI oil prices averaged US$43.32 per bbl in 2016, 11% lower than the 

average of US$48.80 per bbl in 2015. The decrease in oil prices has been attributed to a global over-supply of oil, high oil 

inventory levels, a slowdown in demand due to weaker global economic conditions, a strong US dollar and geopolitical events 

in various oil producing areas.

During the fourth quarter of 2016, oil prices improved as WTI averaged US$49.29 per bbl compared to US$44.94 per bbl in the 

third quarter of 2016 and US$42.18 per bbl in the fourth quarter of 2015. The increase in fourth quarter crude oil pricing has been 

attributed to improving global demand for oil, lower production volumes and the decision by the Organization of Petroleum 

Exporting Countries (OPEC) and certain non-OPEC countries to reduce their oil output by approximately 1.8 million bbls/d.

The heavy oil differential (WTI oil prices compared to WCS oil prices) was relatively flat in 2016 averaging US$13.90 per bbl 

compared to US$13.77 per bbl in 2015; however, heavy oil differentials as a percentage of WTI prices widened to 32.1% in 2016 

compared to 28.2% in 2015. In the fourth quarter of 2016, the heavy oil differential widened compared to third quarter of 2016 

due to a decrease in seasonal demand and previous production disruptions, caused by forest fires, coming back online.

While reduced production levels as a result of the lower oil price environment has alleviated some of the short-term trans-

portation issues, take-away capacity remains tight for oil producers in Canada. With increased oil production expected in 

Canada from new and expanded oil sands projects, securing additional pipeline capacity to tidewater is important to ensure 

Canadian producers receive world prices for their oil. During the fourth quarter of 2016, the federal government approved 

the expansion of the existing Trans Mountain Express Pipeline and the Enbridge Line 3 replacement project. The proposed 

expansion of the existing Trans Mountain Express Pipeline would expand capacity to carry up to 890,000 bbls/d of oil to ports 

in Vancouver, from the current capacity of approximately 300,000 bbls/d and the Line 3 replacement project would expand 
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capacity to carry up to 760,000 bbls/d of oil to Wisconsin, from the current pressure restricted capacity of approximately 

390,000 bbls/d. There is an additional pipeline proposal in Canada, the Energy East pipeline, which would transport increased 

oil production to Eastern Canada. However, this pipeline proposal has not received regulatory approval. Recently in the US, 

the newly inaugurated President approved the Keystone XL pipeline with conditions, reversing the previous administration’s 

decision. The Keystone XL pipeline would transport increased oil production to the US Gulf Coast. In general, these proposed 

pipelines have garnered significant opposition against them from environmental and other groups and there is no assurance 

that any of these pipeline projects will get built.

Natural gas prices decreased in 2016 averaging $2.05/GJ compared to $2.55/GJ in 2015. The decrease in natural gas prices dur-

ing 2016 is attributable to higher gas storage levels due to a relatively mild winter earlier in the year throughout much of North 

America which reduced the demand for natural gas for heating. BlackPearl produces very little natural gas and therefore 

prices do not have a significant impact on our current revenues.

However, we do consume relatively large amounts of gas in our Blackrod pilot operations and at our Onion Lake thermal proj-

ect. Natural gas prices increased in the fourth quarter of 2016 averaging $2.93/GJ compared to $2.20/GJ in the third quarter 

of 2016 due to cold weather during the period resulting in higher demand for heating. These higher natural gas prices in the 

fourth quarter of 2016 increased our operating costs in these areas.

Changes in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar impacts our revenues and cash flows as our oil sales price 

is determined by reference to US benchmark prices. The Canadian dollar weakened against the US dollar in 2016, which par-

tially mitigated the effect of lower crude oil prices on our revenues and cash flows. The exchange rate between the Canadian 

dollar and the US dollar averaged Cdn$1 = US$0.76 during 2016 compared to Cdn$1 = US$0.78 during 2015.

The following chart shows the Company’s sensitivity to key commodity price variables. The sensitivity calculations are per-

formed independently showing the effect of the change of one variable, with all other variables being held constant.

Estimated change in funds flow from operations for 2016 (1) (2):

Key variable Change ($) $000s

West Texas Intermediate (WTI) (US$/bbl) 1.00 1,034

Realized crude oil price (Cdn$/bbl) 1.00 1,418

US $ to Canadian $ exchange rate 0.01 591

(1)	� This analysis assumes current royalty rates and operating costs, no changes in working capital and includes the impact of realized risk management 
contracts.

(2)	� Funds flow from operations is a non-GAAP measure. Funds flow from operations does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and, therefore, 
may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies in the oil and gas industry.
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Oil and Gas Production, Oil and Gas Pricing and Oil and Gas Sales

Three months ended
December 31

Year Ended
December 31

2016 2015 2016 2015

Daily production/sales volumes

Oil (bbls/d) 9,853 8,785 9,391 7,371

Bitumen – Blackrod (bbls/d) (2) 523 562 556 541

Oil – Onion Lake thermal (bbls/d) (3) – – – 63

Combined (bbls/d) 10,376 9,347 9,947 7,975

Natural gas (Mcf/d) 620 1,047 781 2,130

Total production (boe/d) (1) 10,479 9,521 10,077 8,330

Product pricing (excluding risk management activities) (2) (3)

Oil ($/bbl) 38.83 27.65 31.57 35.00

Natural gas ($/Mcf) 2.90 2.91 1.95 2.72

Combined ($/boe) (1) 38.61 27.45 31.30 34.14

Sales ($000s) (2) (3)

Oil and gas sales – gross 35,360 22,630 109,066 96,271

Royalties (4,516) (3,612) (13,785) (16,190)

Oil and gas revenues – net 30,844 19,018 95,281 80,081

(1)	 Natural gas production converted at 6:1 (for boe figures)

(2) 	� All sales and expenses from the Blackrod SAGD pilot are being recorded as an adjustment to the capitalized costs of the project until the technical feasibility 
and commercial viability of the project is established.

(3)	� All sales and expenses from the pre-commercial test production from the first phase of the Onion Lake thermal EOR project were recorded as an adjustment 
to the capitalized costs of the project. Effective October 1, 2015, the first phase of the Onion Lake thermal EOR project commenced commercial production 
and all revenues and expenses associated with the project as of that date are reported in the operating results of the Company.

Oil and natural gas sales increased 13% in 2016 to $109.1 million from $96.3 million in 2015. The increase in oil and gas sales 

is attributable to a 21% increase in production volumes (on a boe basis) in 2016 compared to 2015, partially offset by an 8% 

decrease in average sale price received.

Lower WTI crude oil prices and wider heavy oil differentials partially offset by a weaker Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar 

contributed to a decrease in our realized crude oil sales prices in 2016. Our average oil wellhead sales price, prior to the impact 

of risk management activities, in 2016 was $31.57 per bbl compared with $35.00 per bbl in 2015.

Production growth in 2016 compared to 2015 came from the first phase of our Onion Lake thermal project. The project has 

been on production for over a year and in June production reached its design capacity of 6,000 bbls/d. During the fourth 

quarter of 2016, production from this project averaged 6,119 bbls/d and during 2016 averaged 5,520 bbls/d.

Production in our non-thermal areas declined in 2016, primarily due to natural declines combined with limited new drilling 

activity due to low oil prices. In addition, we have selectively shut-in some of our higher cost production that is not economic 

in the current oil price environment. At Onion Lake, we have approximately 750 bbls of oil per day currently shut-in. As well, 

during the first quarter of 2016, we elected to shut-in the majority of the phase one ASP flood at Mooney, or approximately 

900 bbls of oil per day. With the recent improvement in crude oil prices, we plan to selectively bring back on production some 

of the shut-in wells at Mooney and Onion Lake.

Oil and natural gas sales increased 56% in the fourth quarter of 2016 to $35.4 million from $22.6 million in the same period in 

2015. The increase in oil and gas sales is attributable to a 41% increase in average sales price received in the fourth quarter of 

2016 and a 10% increase in production volumes (on a boe basis).
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On a boe basis, 99% of the Company’s oil and natural gas production in 2016 was heavy oil or bitumen. The Onion Lake area 

accounted for 76% of total production in 2016.

Three months ended
December 31

Year Ended
December 31

Production by area (boe/d) 2016 2015 2016 2015

Onion Lake – thermal 6,119 3,010 5,520 951

Onion Lake – conventional 2,011 2,914 2,135 3,312

Mooney 785 1,902 801 2,367

John Lake 837 955 863 989

Blackrod 523 562 556 541

Other 204 178 202 170

Total production 10,479 9,521 10,077 8,330

In 2011, BlackPearl commenced its SAGD pilot project at Blackrod. The pilot started with a single horizontal well pair and 

associated steam and water handling facilities. A second pilot well pair was drilled and put on production in 2013. The pilot 

is being undertaken to provide operating data to design the commercial development of the Blackrod lands. The original 

SAGD pilot well was shut-in in August 2015. All sales and expenses from the pilot are being recorded as an adjustment to the 

capitalized costs of the project until commercial production commences. During 2016, the pilot well produced an average of 

556 bbls/d of bitumen and the net revenues capitalized for 2016 were $0.1 million ($2.1 million loss in 2015).

During 2016, BlackPearl received regulatory approval for its 80,000 bbls/d commercial Blackrod SAGD project. The commercial 

Blackrod SAGD project has not yet been sanctioned for development. We will consider joint venture opportunities or other 

financing options to accelerate development of the Blackrod SAGD project.

Risk Management Activities

The Company periodically enters into risk management contracts in order to ensure a certain level of cash flow to fund planned 

capital projects and to maintain as much financial flexibility as possible. BlackPearl’s strategy is to mainly focus on swaps, 

collars, calls and fixed price contracts to limit exposure to fluctuations in oil prices and revenues. The Company’s risk manage-

ment activities are conducted pursuant to the Company’s Risk Management Policy approved by the Board of Directors and are 

not used for trading or speculative purposes. The policy permits the Company to hedge up to 60% of our forecast production 

for a period of up to 24 months.

Gains and losses on risk management contracts include both realized gains and losses representing the portion of contracts 

that have been settled during the year and unrealized gains and losses that represent the non-cash change in the fair values 

of our outstanding risk management contracts. The Company had a net loss of $4.5 million on its risk management contracts 

during 2016, consisting of a $10.8 million realized gain on the contracts and an unrealized loss of $15.3 million. The realized 

gain on risk management contracts was the equivalent of adding $3.10 per bbl to our wellhead price during 2016.

Three months ended
December 31

Year Ended
December 31

($000s, except per boe) 2016 2015 2016 2015

Realized gain on risk management contracts 578 10,334 10,793 37,227

Per boe ($) 0.63 12.54 3.10 13.20

Unrealized gain (loss) on risk management contracts (5,676) 1,778 (15,283) (11,303)
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The table below summarizes the Company’s outstanding commodity contracts as at December 31, 2016:

Subject of 
Contract Volume Term Reference Strike Price Type

2017

Oil 500 bbls/d January 1 to December 31 CDN$ WCS CDN$ 52.75/bbl Swap

Oil 1,000 bbls/d January 1 to December 31 CDN$ WCS CDN$ 50.00/bbl Swap

Oil 1,000 bbls/d January 1 to December 31 CDN$ WCS CDN$ 49.50/bbl Swap

Oil 500 bbls/d January 1 to June 30 CDN$ WCS CDN$ 40.00/bbl to 52.50/bbl Collar

Oil 500 bbls/d January 1 to June 30 CDN$ WCS CDN$ 40.00/bbl to 47.00/bbl Collar

Oil 1,000 bbls/d January 1 to December 31 US$ WTI US$ 60.00/bbl Sold Call

2018

Oil 500 bbls/d January 1 to December 31 US$ WTI US$ 70.00/bbl Sold Call

At December 31, 2016, these contracts had a fair value of approximately $6.0 million liability. A 10% decrease to the oil price 

used to calculate the fair value of these contracts would result in an approximate $7.5 million increase in fair value.

The table below summarizes commodity contracts the Company entered into subsequent to December 31, 2016:

Subject of 
Contract Volume Term Reference Strike Price Type

2017

Oil 500 bbls/d February 1 to December 31 CDN$ WCS CDN$ 54.30/bbl Swap

Oil 500 bbls/d February 1 to December 31 US$ WCS US$ 40.15/bbl Swap

Royalties

Three months ended
December 31

Year Ended
December 31

2016 2015 2016 2015

Royalties ($000s) 4,516 3,612 13,785 16,190

Per boe ($) 4.93 4.38 3.96 5.74

As a percentage of oil and gas sales 13% 16% 13% 17%

BlackPearl makes royalty payments to the owners of the mineral rights on the lands we have leased. Most of the payments are 

to provincial governments or, in the case of our Onion Lake area production, the majority of the royalties are paid to Indian Oil 

and Gas Canada on behalf of the Onion Lake Cree Nation.

Royalties were $13.8 million in 2016, down from $16.2 million in 2015. The decrease in royalties paid reflects lower royalty rates 

in 2016. Royalties as a percentage of oil and gas sales decreased to 13% in 2016 from 17% in 2015. This decrease is attributable 

to an increase in production from the Onion Lake thermal project. Production from this project was 55% of our total produc-

tion in 2016 (11% in 2015). During the pre-payout period the royalties from this project will be approximately 10%, which is 

lower than our average royalty rate for our other producing areas.

In late 2016, the Company sold a royalty interest on substantially all future production from its Onion Lake lands whereby the 

Company will pay approximately a 1.75% royalty and as a result, royalty rates in 2017 and future periods will increase to reflect 

this new royalty.
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Transportation Costs

Three months ended
December 31

Year Ended
December 31

2016 2015 2016 2015

Conventional Production 

Transportation costs ($000s) 318 379 969 2,555

Per boe ($) 0.93 0.69 0.66 1.00

Thermal Production

Transportation costs ($000s) 2,144 639 6,832 639

Per boe ($) 3.81 2.31 3.38 2.31

Total Production

Transportation costs ($000s) 2,462 1,018 7,801 3,194

Per boe ($) 2.69 1.23 2.24 1.13

Transportation costs are incurred to move marketable crude oil and natural gas to their selling points. Costs to ship oil/emul-

sion to a treating facility before it is sold are included in production expenses rather than transportation costs. Transportation 

costs increased in 2016 to $7.8 million from $3.2 million in 2015. This increase is attributable to increased production from our 

Onion Lake thermal project which ships mostly clean marketable crude oil.

Production Costs

Three months ended
December 31

Year Ended
December 31

2016 2015 2016 2015

Conventional Production

Production costs ($000s) 6,387 8,522 24,696 50,120

Per boe ($) 18.59 15.57 16.87 19.71

Thermal Production

Production costs ($000s) 4,701 6,126 18,638 6,126

Per boe ($) 8.35 22.12 9.22 22.12

Total Production

Production costs ($000s) 11,088 14,648 43,334 56,246

Per boe ($) 12.11 17.77 12.44 19.94

Total production costs decreased 23% in 2016 to $43.3 million from $56.2 million in 2015. On a per boe basis, total production 

costs decreased 38% in 2016 to $12.44 per boe from $19.94 per boe in 2015. The decrease in total production costs was made 

up of a drop in costs related to our conventional production offset by production costs from our new thermal project at 

Onion Lake.

The decrease in conventional production costs in 2016 is attributable, in part, to a 38% decrease in conventional produc-

tion volumes. In addition, due to low oil prices the Company has been focusing on reducing production costs. This included 

negotiating lower service rates with various suppliers and contractors, deferring well servicing work and shutting-in specific 

wells in the Onion Lake area that are not economic at current oil prices. The Company also temporarily shut-in the majority of 

the production from wells in the first phase of the Mooney ASP flood in early 2016 due to the continued low crude oil prices, 

which also contributed to the decrease in conventional production costs. The increase in thermal production costs in 2016 

reflects the steady ramp-up in production from our Onion Lake thermal project, which commenced commercial production 

in October 2015. Purchasing natural gas to make steam is our largest single expense on this project and therefore production 

costs can fluctuate based on the price of natural gas. To date, we have not entered into any contracts to fix the price of natural 

gas we purchase.
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The decrease in thermal production costs in the fourth quarter of 2016 compared to the same period in 2015 is primarily 

attributable to the first phase of the Onion Lake thermal project being in the ramp-up phase in the fourth quarter of 2015 

whereas in 2016 the project reached design capacity and achieved operating efficiencies.

Operating Netback (1) (2)

Year Ended December 31

2016 2016 2015 2015

$000s $/boe $000s $/boe

Oil and gas sales 109,066 31.30 96,271 34.14

Royalties 13,785 3.96 16,190 5.74

Transportation costs 7,801 2.24 3,194 1.13

Production costs 43,334 12.44 56,246 19.94

Operating netback before realized risk management contracts 44,146 12.66 20,641 7.33

Realized gain on risk management contracts 10,793 3.10 37,227 13.20

Operating netback after realized risk management contracts 54,939 15.76 57,868 20.53

Three months ended December 31

2016 2016 2015 2015

$000s $/boe $000s $/boe

Oil and gas sales 35,360 38.61 22,630 27.45

Royalties 4,516 4.93 3,612 4.38

Transportation costs 2,462 2.69 1,018 1.23

Production costs 11,088 12.11 14,648 17.77

Operating netback before realized risk management contracts 17,294 18.88 3,352 4.07

Realized gain on risk management contracts 578 0.63 10,334 12.54

Operating netback after realized risk management contracts 17,872 19.51 13,686 16.61

(1)	� Operating netback is a non-GAAP measure. Operating netback does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and, therefore, may not be 
comparable to similar measures used by other companies in the oil and gas industry.

(2)	� Production used when calculating operating netback is determined by the number of days in the period multiplied by average daily production less capital-
ized production at Blackrod and Onion Lake thermal as disclosed in the Oil and Gas, Oil and Gas Pricing and Oil and Gas Sales section of this MD&A.

Operating netback is the cash margin we receive from each barrel of oil equivalent sold. Operating netback, before realized 

gains on risk management activities, increased 73% in 2016 to $12.66 per boe from $7.33 per boe in 2015. The increase in the 

netback is primarily attributable to lower royalties and production costs.

General and Administrative Expenses (G&A)

Three months ended
December 31

Year Ended
December 31

($000s, except per boe) 2016 2015 2016 2015

Gross G&A expense 1,774 2,088 7,704 8,810

Operator recoveries (191) (268) (808) (1,134)

Net G&A expense 1,583 1,820 6,896 7,676

Per boe ($) 1.73 2.21 1.98 2.72

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and wages of employees, office rent, computer services, 

legal, accounting and consulting fees. The decrease in gross G&A expenses in 2016 compared to 2015 reflects, in part, lower 

staff compensation costs in 2016 as a result of the implementation of temporary salary reductions and reduced work sched-

ules for our staff during this period of low oil prices as well as lower office rent in 2016 as a result of moving our corporate 
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head office in the second half of the year at a significantly lower rent. Lower operator recoveries in 2016 compared to 2015 is 

attributable to lower capital spending in 2016.

As oil prices stabilize, salary reductions previously implemented will likely be rescinded and our administrative costs in the 

future will rise to reflect this change.

Stock-Based Compensation

Three months ended
December 31

Year Ended
December 31

($000s, except per boe) 2016 2015 2016 2015

Gross stock-based compensation 700 1,759 3,356 6,073

Recoveries from forfeitures (6) (3) (54) (61)

Net stock-based compensation before capitalization 694 1,756 3,302 6,012

Capitalized stock-based compensation – – – (146)

Net stock-based compensation 694 1,756 3,302 5,866

Per boe ($) 0.76 2.13 0.95 2.08

Stock-based compensation costs are non-cash charges which reflect the estimated value of stock options granted. The 

Company uses the fair value method of accounting for stock options granted to directors, officers, employees and consultants 

whereby the fair value of all stock options granted is recorded as a charge to operations over the period from the grant date 

to the vesting date of the option. The fair value of common share options granted is estimated on the date of grant using the 

Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The decrease in gross stock-based compensation in 2016 compared to 2015 is primarily attributable to a decrease in the 

weighted average market price of the Company’s common shares during 2016. In 2016, 310,669 options were exercised, 

135,000 options were granted, 478,665 options were forfeited and 2,074,500 options expired. Based on stock options out-

standing as at December 31, 2016, the Company has an unamortized stock option compensation expense of approximately 

$1.0 million, of which $0.9 million is expected to be expensed in 2017 and $0.1 million in 2018.

Finance Costs

Three months ended
December 31

Year Ended
December 31

($000s) 2016 2015 2016 2015

Gross interest & financing charges 523 930 3,262 3,498

Capitalized interest & financing charges – – – (2,066)

Net interest & financing charges 523 930 3,262 1,432

Accretion of decommissioning liabilities 377 370 1,461 1,646

Total finance costs 900 1,300 4,723 3,078

The decrease in gross interest and financing charges in 2016 compared to 2015 is the result of lower average debt levels and 

lower interest rates on amounts borrowed in 2016. The average interest rate on advances under the Company’s credit facilities 

was 3.4% in 2016 compared to 3.8% in 2015. This does not include standby fees charged on unutilized amounts of the credit 

facilities.

All our long-term debt is floating rate debt, so the interest rate charged is based on general market conditions. Additionally, 

the interest rate charged on our debt is determined, in part, by our debt to EBITDA ratio (as defined in our credit agreement). 

We have not entered into any financial instruments to fix the interest rate on our debt.

During 2016 we did not capitalize any interest charges. In 2015 we capitalized $2.1 million of interest costs related to debt 

incurred during the construction of the Onion Lake thermal project.
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Depletion and Depreciation

Three months ended
December 31

Year Ended
December 31

2016 2015 2016 2015

Depletion and depreciation ($000s) 11,237 12,872 44,626 51,950

Per boe ($) 12.27 15.62 12.81 18.42

The Company’s properties are depleted on a unit of production basis based on estimated proven plus probable reserves. 

Depletion and depreciation expense decreased 14% in 2016 to $44.6 million from $52.0 million in 2015. On a boe basis, deple-

tion and depreciation expense decreased to $12.81 per boe in 2016 compared to $18.42 per boe in 2015. The decrease in 

depletion and depreciation on a boe basis is primarily attributable to a higher proportion of our production generated from 

the Onion Lake thermal project in 2016. The depletion rate on this project is below $10 per boe which is lower than the deple-

tion rates for our other producing areas.

Impairment

Cash-generating units (“CGUs”) are petroleum and natural gas properties, exploration and evaluation assets and other corpo-

rate assets that are aggregated based on their ability to generate largely independent cash inflows and are used for impair-

ment testing. At December 31, 2016, the Company had five CGU’s, one for each of our core areas and two CGU’s for some 

of our minor properties. As indicators periodically dictate, the net book values of these CGU’s are tested for impairment. At 

December 31, 2016, the Company performed a review of each of our CGUs for any indicators of impairment and determined 

the only CGU that had impairment indicators was the Mooney CGU. 

At December 31, 2016, the Company performed impairment calculations on the Mooney CGU to assess whether the respec-

tive carrying value was recoverable. The recoverable amount used in assessing impairment was calculated at the fair value 

less costs of disposal using an after tax discounted cash flow model with a discount rate of 11%. At December 31, 2016, the 

recoverable amount at the Mooney CGU was greater than the carrying value and no impairment loss or reversal was recorded. 

However, further declines in forecast commodity prices could reduce reserve values and result in the recognition of future 

asset impairments. Future impairments can also result from changes to reserve estimates, future development costs and 

capitalized costs.

Income Taxes

BlackPearl did not pay cash income taxes in 2016 and does not expect to pay income taxes in 2017 as we have sufficient tax 

pools to shelter expected income.

The Company has the following estimated tax pools as at:

($000s, except for left-hand column) Rate %
December 31,

2016
December 31,

2015

Canadian exploration expenses 100 26,105 26,274

Canadian development expenses 30 36,212 88,248

Canadian oil and gas property expenses 10 – 8,508

Undepreciated capital costs 10-30 247,606 328,586

Non-capital losses (expiry dates 2027 to 2036) 100 335,235 275,594

Share issuance costs 5 years 1,345 2,035

Total estimated tax pools 646,503 729,245
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RESULTS FROM OPERATIONS

Three months ended
December 31

Year Ended
December 31

2016 2015 2016 2015

Net income (loss) ($000s) (2,217) (31,172) (19,928) (46,793)

Per share, basic ($) (0.01) (0.09) (0.06) (0.14)

Per share, diluted ($) (0.01) (0.09) (0.06) (0.14)

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company recognized a net loss of $19.9 million compared to a net loss of $46.8 

million in 2015. The decrease in net loss in 2016 is primarily a result of no impairment losses recognized during 2016, increased 

revenue from higher production volumes and lower production costs, partially offset by lower realized gains on risk manage-

ment contracts during the year.

Three months ended
December 31

Year Ended
December 31

($000s) 2016 2015 2016 2015

Cash flow from operating activities (1) 15,079 12,179 42,491 62,344

Funds flow from operations (2) 15,798 10,898 44,775 48,962

(1)	� Cash flow from operating activities is a GAAP measure and has a standardized meaning prescribed by Canadian GAAP.

(2)	� Funds flow from operations is a non-GAAP measure. Funds flow from operations does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and, therefore, 
may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies in the oil and gas industry.

Funds flow from operations decreased 9% to $44.8 million during 2016 compared to $49.0 million in 2015. The decrease in 

funds flow in 2016 is primarily a result of lower realized gains on risk management contracts partially offset by increased 

revenue from higher production volumes and lower production costs.

Cash flow from operating activities differs from funds flow from operations principally due to the inclusion of decommis-

sioning costs incurred and changes in non-cash working capital. Cash flow from operating activities is lower than funds flow 

from operations due to decommissioning costs and changes in non-cash working capital of $2.3 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2016 and $0.7 million for three months ended December 31, 2016.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

($000s) December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Working capital deficiency (surplus) 4,995 (11,063)

Long-term debt – 88,000

Net debt (1) 4,995 76,937

(1)	� Net debt is a non-GAAP measure. Net debt does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and, therefore, may not be comparable to similar 
measures used by other companies in the oil and gas industry.

At December 31, 2016, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $5 million and no amounts drawn on its $117.5 million 

credit facilities. We began 2016 with $88 million drawn on our credit facilities. As result of the challenging oil price environ-

ment, we felt it was important to maintain a strong financial position and so the majority of our cash flow in 2016 was used to 

pay down debt and limit capital reinvestment until oil prices improved. In addition, late in the year we sold a royalty interest 

on production from the majority of our Onion Lake lands for gross proceeds of $55 million. The combination of cash flow 

from operating activities and the proceeds from the royalty sale allowed us to completely pay off our bank debt at the end of 

the year.



16	 B L A C K P E A R L  R E S O U R C E S  I N C .  /  2016 F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LY S I S

As result of low commodity prices, during the spring 2016 borrowing base redetermination, our lenders reduced our credit 

facilities to $117.5 million. During the fall redetermination, our lenders reconfirmed our borrowing base at $117.5 million con-

sisting of a $107.5 million syndicated revolving line of credit and a non-syndicated operating line of credit of $10 million. The 

facilities are secured by a floating and fixed charge debenture on the assets of the Company. The amount available under 

these facilities (“Borrowing Base”) is re-determined at least twice a year and is based on the Company’s oil and gas reserves, 

the lending institution’s forecast commodity prices, the current economic environment and other factors as determined by 

the syndicate of lending institutions. If the total advances made under the credit facilities are greater than the re-determined 

Borrowing Base, the Company has 60 days to repay the difference. The next scheduled Borrowing Base redetermination is 

to occur by May 31, 2017. The facilities are also subject to annual reviews by the lenders and the next scheduled review is to 

be completed by May 27, 2017. If the lenders elected not to renew the credit facilities during the annual review, any amounts 

outstanding would convert to a term loan that would be due and payable in full by May 26, 2018.

Pursuant to the terms of the credit agreement, the Company is required to maintain a working capital ratio of 1:1 at the end of 

each fiscal quarter. Working capital as defined in the lending agreement is current assets, as indicated on the Company’s con-

solidated balance sheet, plus any undrawn amount on the credit facilities compared to current liabilities from the Company’s 

consolidated balance sheet (excluding any current amounts due on credit facilities). In addition, amounts related to risk man-

agement contracts are excluded from the calculations of current assets and current liabilities. The Company had a working 

capital ratio of 7.2 at December 31, 2016 and was in compliance with this covenant at December 31, 2016.

($000s, except working capital ratio)
Year Ended

December 31, 2016
Year Ended

December 31, 2015

Current assets per consolidated financial statements 19,510 25,537

Add: amount available to be drawn on credit facilities 117,500 62,000

Less: current risk management assets – (10,548)

Current assets for working capital ratio 137,010 76,989

Current liabilities per consolidated financial statements 24,505 14,474

Less: current risk management liabilities (5,507) –

Current liabilities for working capital ratio 18,998 14,474

Working capital ratio 7.2 5.3

The next significant capital project we are planning is the expansion of our Onion Lake thermal project. The second phase of 

the Onion Lake thermal project is designed for 6,000 bbls/d of oil and capital costs are estimated to be approximately $180 

million. Expected cash flow from operating activities and the Company’s borrowing capacity on our existing credit facilities is 

expected to be used to fund a significant portion of the capital costs of the second phase of the Onion Lake thermal project. 

In addition, we are exploring additional debt financing options to fund the development of the second phase of the Onion 

Lake thermal project.

During 2016, the Company received regulatory approval for its 80,000 bbls/d commercial Blackrod SAGD project. The 

Company is planning to build the Blackrod SAGD project in phases, with the first phase likely to be designed for 20,000 bbls/d. 

We have not completed detailed cost estimates for this phase but our internal estimates suggest initial capital costs will be 

approximately $800 million. We currently would consider financing options to accelerate the development of this project, 

including joint venture opportunities.

At December 31, 2016, there were 335,948,895 common shares issued and outstanding and in 2016 the Company issued 

310,669 common shares pursuant to the exercise of stock options.

The Company did not pay dividends on its common shares in 2016 and it does not anticipate paying dividends in the near term. 

Dividends are at the discretion of the Company’s board of directors. In addition, the terms and conditions of the Company’s 

existing credit agreement restricts the payment of cash dividends to shareholders.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Capital spending decreased in 2016 compared to 2015 as we adjusted our activity levels to reflect a lower oil price environ-

ment and used the majority of cash flow from operating activities to reduce debt. Capital expenditures during the year were 

$10.9 million, with approximately $8.2 million spent at the Onion Lake thermal project related to facility improvements and 

planning costs for the second phase of the project, $1.1 million spent at Onion Lake related to the drilling of three gross 

conventional heavy oil wells and $1.6 million spent in other areas.

Capital spending during the fourth quarter of 2016 was $6.2 million, an increase from $1.7 million during the same period in 

2015. The main components of the capital spending during the fourth quarter were planning costs for the second phase of the 

Onion Lake thermal project and drilling of three gross conventional heavy oil wells at Onion Lake.

During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company sold a royalty interest on its Onion Lake property for cash proceeds of $55 

million whereby the Company will pay approximately 1.75% royalty on production from substantially all of its Onion Lake 

lands. We have recorded this transaction as a disposition of $40.2 million and a deferred consideration of $14.8 million was 

recorded on the sale of the royalty that will be recognized over the reserve life at Onion Lake as revenue.

Three months ended
December 31

Year Ended
December 31

($000s) 2016 2015 2016 2015

Land 428 203 1,172 988

Seismic 9 5 4 598

Drilling and completion 560 1,059 3,282 8,187

Equipment and facilities 5,079 358 6,327 58,574

Other 74 40 140 161

Total 6,150 1,665 10,925 68,508

Property acquisitions – – – –

Total capital expenditures 6,150 1,665 10,925 68,508

Property dispositions (40,170) – (40,170) –

Net capital expenditures (34,020) 1,665 (29,245) 68,508

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

The Company has a number of financial obligations in the ordinary course of business. The following table summarizes the 

contractual obligations and commitments of the Company outstanding as at December 31, 2016. These obligations are 

expected to be funded from cash flow from operating activities and the Company’s credit facilities.

($000s) 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Thereafter

Operating leases (1) 960 885 687 556 545 –

Electrical service agreement (2) 1,000 585 119 119 119 1,868

Transportation service agreement (3) 135 135 135 33 – –

Decommissioning liabilities (4) 644 428 347 8,992 1,651 62,242

Capital commitments (5) 5,000 – – – – –

7,739 2,033 1,288 9,700 2,315 64,110

(1)	 The Company’s most significant operating lease is for office space.

(2)	 The Company entered into certain long-term agreements to acquire electricity for one of its processing facilities.

(3)	 The Company entered into certain long-term agreements to transport natural gas to one of its facilities.

(4)	� The Company also has ongoing obligations related to the decommissioning of well sites and facilities which have reached the end of their economic lives. 
The undiscounted estimated obligations associated with the retirement of the Company’s oil and gas properties were $74.3 million as at December 31, 2016. 
Decommissioning programs are undertaken regularly in accordance with applicable legislative requirements.

(5) 	� The Company entered into certain agreements pertaining to the construction of the second phase of the Onion Lake thermal project.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s financial instruments as at December 31, 2016 include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 

deposits within prepaid expenses and deposits, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and risk management liabilities. The 

fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, deposits and accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

approximate their carrying amount due to the short-term nature of the instruments. The fair value of the Company’s long-

term debt approximates its carrying value as the interest rates charged on this debt are comparable to current market rates. 

The fair values of the Company’s risk management contracts are determined by discounting the difference between the con-

tracted prices and published forward price curves as at the consolidated balance sheet date, using the remaining contracted 

oil volumes and a risk-free interest rate (based on published government rates).

Foreign Currency Risk

The Company is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and the volatility of those rates. 

This exposure primarily relates to: (i) revenues received for the sale of its crude oil production are primarily priced in US 

dollars while most of the Company’s operating and capital expenditures are denominated in Canadian dollars and (ii) certain 

deposits, accounts receivable, and accounts payable are denominated in US dollars. 

As at December 31, 2016, the Company held US $0.4 million (2015 – US $0.9 million) in cash and cash equivalents. The polymer 

we purchase for our ASP flood at Mooney is paid in US dollars. Fluctuations in exchange rates will have an impact in the 

Company’s cost of polymer. In 2016, we spent approximately US$0.3 million (2015 – US $3.4 million) on polymer.

In 2016, a $0.01 change in the average exchange rate between the US and Canadian dollar would have changed oil and gas 

sales by approximately $1.4 million (2015 - $1.9 million). In addition, if exchange rates to convert from US dollars to Canadian 

dollars had been $0.10 lower with all other variables held constant, after tax net loss for the year would have been approxi-

mately $37,000 higher (2015 - $62,000 higher) as a result of the re-valuation of the Company’s US dollar denominated financial 

assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2016. An equal opposite impact would have occurred to net loss had exchange rates 

been $0.10 higher. The Company does not hedge its foreign currency risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a third party fails to meet its contractual obligations in a way that could result in the Company 

incurring a loss. The Company’s credit risk is primarily related to its holdings of cash and cash equivalents and trade and other 

receivables.

As at December 31, 2016, the Company held $5.4 million (2015 - $2.3 million) in cash at various major financial institutions 

throughout Canada and the USA; however, one Canadian financial institution held over 94% (2015 – 82%) of our cash and 

short-term deposits. The financial institution is a Canadian provincial crown corporation with a high investment grade rating 

and therefore we believe the credit risk is limited. Cash balances in excess of the Company’s day to day requirements are 

invested in short-term deposits of less than 30 days.

At December 31, 2016, 99% of receivables were from oil and gas marketers related to the sale of our oil and gas produc-

tion. Receivables from oil and gas marketers are generally collected on the 25th day of the month following production. 

The Company attempts to mitigate the credit risk associated with these marketers by assessing their financial strength and 

entering into relationships with larger purchasers with established credit history. During 2016 and 2015, the Company did not 

experience any collection issues with its marketers.

In 2016, the Company had four customers (2015 – four) which individually accounted for more than 10 percent of its total oil 

and gas sales. Cumulatively, these customers represented approximately 87% (2015 – 80%) of the Company’s total oil and gas 

sales in 2016.
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Risk management assets and liabilities consist of commodity contracts used to manage the Company’s exposure to fluctua-

tions in commodity prices. The Company manages the credit risk exposure related to risk management contracts by selecting 

investment grade counterparties and by not entering into contracts for trading or speculative purposes. During 2016 and 

2015, the Company did not experience any collection issues with risk management contracts.

The Company typically does not obtain or post collateral or security from its oil and natural gas marketers or financial institu-

tion counterparties. The carrying amounts of accounts receivable represent the maximum credit exposure. The Company is 

not the operator of certain oil and natural gas properties in which it has an ownership interest. The Company is dependent on 

such operators for the timing of activities related to such properties and will largely be unable to direct or control the activi-

ties of the operators. In addition, the Company’s activities may be impacted by the ability, expertise, judgment and financial 

capability of the operators.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in interest rates. 

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk primarily related to its cash and cash equivalents and its long-term debt. The 

Company has not entered into any fixed rate contracts to mitigate its interest rate risk.

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk in relation to interest expense on its revolving credit facility due to the floating 

interest rate charged on advances. For the year ended December 31, 2016, if interest rates had been one percent higher, 

with all other variables held constant, after tax net loss for the year would have been approximately $788,000 higher (2015 – 

$207,000 higher).

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its excess cash balances. As at December 31, 2016, if interest rates had been 

one percent higher, with all other variables held constant, after tax net loss for the year would have been approximately 

$40,000 lower (2015 – $55,000 lower).

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk the Company is unable to meet its financial obligations as they come due. Liquidity risk also includes 

the risk of not being able to liquidate assets in a timely manner at a reasonable price. The Company has an on-going cash 

flow planning and forecasting model to help determine the funds required to meet its operational needs at all times. In addi-

tion, the Company manages its liquidity risk by ensuring that it has access to multiple sources of capital including cash and 

cash equivalents, cash from operating activities, undrawn credit facilities and opportunities to issue additional equity. As at 

December 31, 2016, the Company had $117.5 million available on its credit facilities. Management believes that these sources 

will be adequate to settle the Company’s financial liabilities and commitments.

Commodity Price Risk

Commodity price risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in the price of oil and natural gas. 

Commodity prices are impacted by world economic events that affect supply and demand, which are generally beyond the 

Company’s control. Changes in crude oil prices may significantly affect the Company’s results of operations, cash generated 

from operating activities, capital spending and the Company’s ability to meet its obligations. The majority of the Company’s 

production is sold under short-term contracts; consequently BlackPearl is at risk to near term price movements. The Company 

manages this risk by constantly monitoring commodity prices and factoring them into operational decisions, such as con-

tracting or expanding its capital expenditures program and shutting-in high operating costs wells as appropriate. Natural 

gas currently represents less than 2% of the Company’s total production and, as a result, any fluctuation in natural gas prices 

would have a nominal effect on current activities. As the Company’s thermal projects continue to be commercially developed, 

natural gas will continue to become a more significant input cost to the Company.
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In 2016, if our average oil wellhead sales price decreased $1.00 with all other variables held constant, our after tax net loss for 

the year would have been approximately $1.1 million higher (2015 – $2.2 million higher). An equal opposite impact would have 

occurred to net loss had average oil wellhead sales price been $1.00 higher.

From time to time, the Company enters into risk management contracts in order to manage the exposure to market risks from 

fluctuations in commodity prices. These risk management contracts are not used for trading or speculative purposes. The 

Company has not designated its risk management contracts as effective accounting hedges, and thus has not applied hedge 

accounting, even though the Company considers all risk management contracts to be economic hedges. As a result, all risk 

management contracts are recorded at fair value at each reporting period with the change in fair value being recognized as 

an unrealized gain or loss on the statement of comprehensive loss.

OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

The Company had no off-balance-sheet arrangements during the year ended 2016 or 2015. We do utilize various operating 

leases in our normal course of business as disclosed under Contractual Obligations and Commitments.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

There was no related-party transactions during the year ended 2016 or 2015 except for key management compensation. Key 

management compensation has been disclosed in the Company’s financial statements (note 15).

OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA AND STOCK OPTIONS

As at February 22, 2017, the Company had 336,177,233 common shares outstanding and 26,692,998 stock options outstanding 

under its stock-based compensation program.

OUTSTANDING LONG-TERM DEBT DATA

As at February 22, 2017, the Company had not drawn any amounts under its existing credit facilities and had issued letters of 

credit in the amount of $20,000; leaving $117,480,000 available to be drawn under these credit facilities.

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS

As of February 22, 2017, the Company does not have any significant pending transactions.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The timely preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires that management use 

judgement and make estimates and assumptions regarding the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of 

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 

and expenses during the period. Such estimates primarily relate to unsettled transactions and events as of the date of the 

consolidated financial statements. The estimated fair value of financial assets and liabilities, by their very nature, are subject to 

measurement uncertainty. Accordingly, actual results may differ from estimated amounts as future confirming events occur. 

A comprehensive discussion of the significant accounting policies adopted by BlackPearl can be found in notes 3 and 4 to the 

consolidated financial statements.
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(a)	 Significant accounting judgements

Areas where management exercised judgement in the process of applying accounting policies that have the most significant 

effect on the amounts recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements include:

(i)	 Identification of CGUs

The Company’s exploration and evaluation costs and property, plant and equipment costs are aggregated into CGUs. 

CGUs are defined as the lowest level of integrated assets for which there are separately identifiable cash flows that are 

largely independent of cash flows from other assets or groups of assets. The classification of assets into CGUs requires 

significant judgement and interpretation by management. Factors considered in the classification of CGUs include 

integration between assets, shared infrastructure, common sales points, similar geological structure, geographical 

proximity and the manner in which management monitors and makes decisions about operations. The recoverability 

of the Company’s long-lived assets is assessed at the CGU level and as such; the determination of the CGU could have a 

significant impact on impairment losses.

(ii)	 Exploration and evaluation assets

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation (E&E) assets requires judgement in 

determining whether it is likely that future economic benefit exists when activities have not reached a stage where tech-

nical feasibility and commercial viability can be reasonably determined. Factors such as proved and probable reserves, 

drilling results, future capital programs and future operating costs are considered. If it is determined that an E&E asset is 

not technically feasible and commercially viable or management decides not to continue E&E activity, the unrecoverable 

E&E costs are charged to exploration expense.

The decision to transfer exploration and evaluation assets to property, plant and equipment is when technical feasibil-

ity and commercial viability is established. Technical feasibility and commercial viability is established when significant 

proved reserves are recognized and regulatory approval has been obtained.

(iii)	 Sale of a royalty interest

When the Company sells a royalty interest linked to production at a specific property, judgment is required in assess-

ing the appropriate accounting treatment of the transaction on the closing date and in future periods. We consider 

the specific terms of each arrangement to determine whether we have disposed of an interest in the reserves of the 

respective property. This assessment considers what the counterparty is entitled to and the associated risks and rewards 

attributable to them over the life of the property including the contractual terms related to production over the life of 

the property, the holder of the royalty having the option of either being paid in cash or in kind and the associated com-

mitments, if any, to develop future expansions or projects at the property. 

(b)	 Significant accounting estimates

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and any revisions to accounting estimates are rec-

ognized in the period in which the estimates are revised. The following are the key accounting estimates at the end of the 

reporting period that if a change were to occur; it could result in a material adjustment to the carrying value of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year:

(i)	 Depletion and reserves

Depletion is based on the proved plus probable reserve estimates as evaluated in accordance with the COGE Handbook. 

The process of estimating reserves is complex. It requires significant judgments and decisions based on available geo-

logical, geophysical, engineering and economic data. These estimates may change substantially as additional data from 

ongoing development activities and production performance becomes available and as economic conditions impacting 

oil and gas prices and costs change. Future development costs are estimated using assumptions as to the number of wells 

required to produce commercial reserves, the cost of such wells and associated production facilities and other capital 
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costs. Although every reasonable effort is made to ensure that reserve estimates are accurate, reserve estimation is an 

inferential science. As a result, subjective decisions, new geological or production information and changing environ-

ment may impact these estimates.

Changes in these variables could significantly impact the reserves estimates which would have significant impact on the 

impairment test and depletion expense of the Company’s long-lived assets. The Company’s oil and natural gas reserves 

are evaluated and reported to the Company by independent qualified reserve evaluators.

Certain costs related to exploration and evaluation assets have been excluded from costs subject to depletion. These 

costs relate primarily to the Blackrod property and will continue to be classified as E&E until the projects are technically 

feasible and commercially viable or their value is impaired. Technical feasibility and commercial viability is established 

when significant proved reserves are recognized and regulatory approval has been obtained. During the year ended 

December 31, 2016, the Company received regulatory approval for Blackrod SAGD commercial development; however, 

significant proved reserves have yet to be recognized to date. At December 31, 2016, $170.7 million has been excluded 

from depletion and has been shown separately on the Company’s balance sheet.

(ii)	 Impairment

The carrying value of the Company’s long-lived assets is assessed for impairment at least annually and reviewed at each 

reporting date for indicators that the carrying value of an asset or CGU may be impaired. The recoverable amount of 

individual assets and CGUs is the greater of their fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. These calculations 

require the use of estimates and assumptions and are subject to change as new information becomes available. Unless 

indicated otherwise, the recoverable amount used in assessing impairment charges is fair value less costs of disposal. The 

Company estimates fair value less costs of disposal using an after tax discounted cash flow model which has a number 

of assumptions. The model uses expected cash flows from proved plus probable reserves and, in certain circumstances, 

risk adjusted contingent resources as estimated by the Company’s third party reserve evaluators. Reserve estimates and 

expected future cash flows from production of reserves are subject to measurement uncertainty as discussed above 

and subject to variability to changes in forecasted commodity prices. The discount rate applied to the cash flows is 

also subject to management’s judgment and will affect the recoverable amount calculated. Changes in estimates and 

assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount could affect the carrying value of the related assets.

Commodity price changes impact the expected future cash flows which may require a material adjustment to the carry-

ing value of property, plant and equipment and E&E assets. The summary of the commodity price forecast used to assess 

CGU impairment in 2016 is disclosed in Note 9 of the consolidated financial statements.

In 2016 and 2015 we had five CGU’s, one for each of our core areas and two CGU’s for some of our minor properties. At 

December 31, 2016, the Company performed a review of impairment indicators at each of our CGUs for any indication 

of impairment and determined the only CGU that had impairment indicators was the Mooney CGU. The Company per-

formed impairment calculations on the Mooney CGU to assess whether the respective carrying value was recoverable. At 

December 31, 2016, the recoverable amount at the Mooney CGU was greater than the carrying value and no impairment 

loss or reversal was recorded.

(iii)	 Decommissioning costs

Provisions are recognized for future decommissioning costs of the Company’s E&E and oil and natural gas assets at the 

end of their economic lives. Decommissioning costs are uncertain and cost estimates can vary in response to many fac-

tors including change to relevant legal and regulatory requirements, the emergence of new restoration techniques, or 

experience at other production sites. The expected timing and amount of expenditure can also change in response to 

changes in reserves and or changes in laws and regulations or their interpretations. Assumptions have been made to 

estimate the future liability based on past experience and current factors which management believes are reasonable. 
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However, the actual cost of decommissioning is uncertain and the difference between actual and estimated costs on 

the consolidated financial statements of future periods may be material. In addition, management determines the ap-

propriate discount rates at the end of each reporting period to determine the present value of the estimated future 

cash outflows required to settle the decommissioning obligations and may change in response to numerous risk factors 

including the risk-free rate and future inflation rates.

The following significant assumptions were used for the purpose of estimating the Company’s decommissioning 

liabilities:

2016 2015

Undiscounted abandonment costs ($000s) $74,304 $77,037

Risk-free rate 2.0% - 2.3% 2.2%

Inflation rate 2.0% 1.5%

Average years to reclamation 22 18

(iv)	 Deferred tax

Judgment is required in the calculation of current and deferred taxes in applying tax laws and regulations, estimat-

ing the time of the reversal of temporary differences and estimating the ability to realize deferred tax assets. Assessing 

the recoverability of deferred tax assets requires the Company to make estimates related to the expectations of future 

cash flow from operations. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ from estimates, the ability of 

the Company to realize the deferred tax assets and liabilities recorded at the balance sheet date could be impacted. 

Additionally, changes in tax laws could limit the ability of the Company to obtain tax deductions in the future. These 

estimates impact current and deferred tax assets and liabilities, and current and deferred tax expense (recovery).

(v)	 Stock-based compensation

The Company uses the Black-Scholes pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options granted. The Black-Scholes 

pricing model requires the Company to make certain assumptions including the expected life of the option, share price 

volatility, expected forfeitures and anticipated dividends over the life of the options. Changes in these assumptions can 

materially affect the fair value estimate of the option which can impact stock-based compensation expense, stock-based 

compensation capitalized and contributed surplus.

(vi)	 Risk management contracts

The estimated fair value of the Company’s risk management contracts by their very nature, are subject to measurement 

uncertainty. Estimates included in the determination of the fair value of risk management contracts include forward 

benchmark prices, discount rates and forward foreign exchange rates. Changes in estimates and assumptions used in 

determining the fair value could affect the carrying value of the related assets (liabilities).
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ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET APPLIED

The standards and interpretations that are issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Company’s financial 

statements are listed below.

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“IFRS 15”) to replace IAS 11, “Construction 

Contracts”, IAS 18, “Revenue” and a number of revenue-related interpretations. IFRS 15 specifies how and when to recognize 

revenue as well as requiring entities to provide users of financial statements with more informative, relevant disclosures. IFRS 

15 is effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with earlier adoption permitted. The standard may be applied 

retrospectively or using a modified retrospective approach. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting IFRS 

15 on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”) to replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement.” IFRS 9 is effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Early adoption is permitted if IFRS 9 is adopted 

in its entirety at the beginning of a fiscal period. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting IFRS 9 on the 

Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, “Leases” (“IFRS 16”) to replace IAS 17, “Leases.” Under IFRS 16, a single recognition and 

measurement model will apply for lessees which will require recognition of assets and liabilities for most leases. IFRS 16 is 

effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2019 with earlier adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating 

the impact of adopting IFRS 16 on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In January 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 7, “Statement of Cash Flows” (“IAS 7”) as part of its disclosure initiative. 

The amendments require an entity to disclose changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. IAS 7 is effective for years 

beginning on or after January 1, 2017 with earlier adoption permitted. The Company will apply amendments to IAS 7 on 

January 1, 2017 which will have immaterial impact on our consolidated financial statements. 

RISK FACTORS

The Company is exposed to a number of risks and uncertainties inherent in exploring for, developing and producing crude 

oil and natural gas. Many of the risk factors and uncertainties are beyond the Company’s control and it is impossible to ensure 

that any exploration drilling program or piloting program will ultimately result in commercial operations.

A full discussion of risk factors affecting the Company can be found in our Annual Information Form for the year ended 

December 31, 2016. The following explains how material principal and strategic risk factors impact our business:

Financial risks

Volatility of Oil and Natural Gas Prices

The Company’s revenues, cash flow, results of operations and financial condition are dependent upon, among other things, 

the price it receives from the sale of its crude oil and natural gas production. Historically, crude oil markets have been volatile 

and are likely to continue to be volatile in the future. These fluctuations in price are in response to factors including, but not 

limited to, supply and demand for crude oil and natural gas, market uncertainty, world economic conditions, government 

regulation, political instability, availability of refining capacity and transportation infrastructure, the ability to transport crude 

to markets, weather conditions and the prices and availability of alternative forms of energy, all of which are generally beyond 

the control of the Company and can result in a high degree of price volatility. Any decline in oil prices or continued periods of 

depressed oil prices could have a material adverse effect on BlackPearl’s revenues, cash flow, financial condition and the value 

of the Company’s oil and gas reserves.

The Company’s financial performance also depends on revenues from the sale of commodities which differ in quality and 

location from underlying commodity prices quoted on financial exchanges. Of particular importance are the price differentials 
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between the Company’s heavy crude oil (in particular the heavy crude oil differential) and quoted market prices. The market 

price for heavy crude oil and bitumen is generally lower than market prices for light oil, due principally to the higher costs 

associated with refining a barrel of heavy crude oil and higher transportation costs (diluent is required to be purchased and 

blended with heavy crude oil to transport on most pipelines). Heavy crude oil differentials are also influenced by other fac-

tors such as capacity and interruptions, refining demand and the quality of the oil produced, all of which are beyond the 

Company’s control. Over 99% of BlackPearl’s production is from heavy crude oil and bitumen. It is difficult to predict future 

price differentials and any increase in heavy crude oil differentials could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business, 

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Fluctuations or continued depression in the price of commodities and price differentials may impact the value of the 

Company’s assets, the Company’s ability to maintain its business and to fund growth projects, including, but not limited to, 

the continued development of its oil sands property. Prolonged periods of commodity price volatility may also negatively 

impact the Company’s ability to meet guidance targets.

Crude oil prices were lower in 2016 compared to 2015. WTI oil prices averaged US$43.32 per bbl in 2016, 11% lower than 

the average of US$48.80 per bbl in 2015. Low oil prices have resulted in the Company deferring development of some of 

its projects and shutting-in some of its existing production for economic reasons. This has had a material adverse effect on 

BlackPearl’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and value of its oil and gas reserves. A continued 

extended decline in the price of crude oil could result in the further delay or cancellation of future drilling programs or con-

struction projects which could also negatively impact BlackPearl’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash 

flows and value of it oil and gas reserves. Late in 2016 crude oil pricing improved, which was attributable, in part, to the deci-

sion by the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC) and certain non-OPEC countries to reduce their oil output 

by approximately 1.8 million bbls/d. 

The Company conducts an assessment of the carrying value of its assets in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards, if indicators of impairment or reversal of impairment exist. For the year ended December 31, 2016, no impairment 

or reversal of impairment was recorded at any of the Company’s oil and natural gas assets. If oil and natural gas prices were to 

decline and remain at low levels for an extended period of time, the carrying value of the Company’s assets may be subject 

to impairment. See the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 for addi-

tional financial information related to impairment.

Credit Facility Arrangements

BlackPearl currently has $117.5 million in bank credit facilities. As at December 31, 2016, the Company had no amounts 

drawn under these facilities. The credit agreement requires BlackPearl to comply with certain covenants and in the event the 

Company does not meet these covenants BlackPearl may be notified it is in default of the terms of the credit agreement and 

could be restricted in borrowing additional amounts or it may be required to repay all or a portion of the amounts owing.

In addition, the maximum amount we are permitted to borrow under these credit facilities is subject to periodic review by 

the lenders, typically semi-annually. BlackPearl’s lenders generally review the Company’s oil and gas production and reserves, 

forecast oil and gas prices, general business environment and other factors to establish the amount we are entitled to borrow. 

In the event the lenders decide to reduce the amount of credit available the Company may be required to repay all or a portion 

of the amounts owing under these credit facilities.

The Company’s ability to make payments on, and to refinance, its future indebtedness, and to fund planned capital expen-

ditures will depend upon, amongst other matters, the Company’s ability to generate cash in the future which, in turn, is 

subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors, many of which are beyond the 

Company’s control. If BlackPearl is unable to repay amounts owing under these facilities the lenders could foreclose on the 

Company’s assets and there is no assurance that the assets would be sufficient to repay the full amount owing to all creditors.
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Operational risks

Exploration, Development and Production Risks

The long-term success of BlackPearl depends on its ability to find, acquire, develop and commercially produce oil and natu-

ral gas reserves. Without the continual addition of new reserves from exploration, development or acquisition activities, 

BlackPearl’s existing reserves and production will decline over time. Production decline rates will vary by the type of reservoir, 

age of the wells and other factors and are not necessarily indicative of future performance.

Future increases in BlackPearl’s oil and gas reserves will depend not only on the Company’s ability to explore and develop any 

properties it may have from time to time, but also on its ability to generate or raise sufficient capital to make the necessary 

investments to replace or expand its oil and gas reserves.

There is no assurance that expenditures made on future exploration, development or acquisition by BlackPearl will result in 

new discoveries of oil or natural gas in commercial quantities.

Uncertainty of Reserve and Contingent Resource Estimates

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved and probable reserves and quantities of contin-

gent resources and future net revenues to be derived therefrom, including many factors beyond the control of the Company. 

The reserves, contingent resources and future net cash flow information set forth in this Annual Information Form represent 

estimates only. While the reserves, contingent resources and future net cash flow information from the Company’s properties 

have been independently evaluated by Sproule in the Sproule Report, these evaluations include a number of assumptions, 

including, but not limited to, such factors as initial production rates, production decline rates, ultimate recovery of reserves 

and contingent resources, timing and amount of capital expenditures, marketability of production, future prices of oil, bitu-

men and natural gas, operating costs, abandonment and reclamation costs, royalties and other government levies that may 

be imposed over the producing life of the reserves and resources. These assumptions were based on prices in use at the date 

the relevant evaluations were prepared, and many of these assumptions are subject to change and are beyond the control of 

the Company. Actual production and cash flow generated from this production will vary from these evaluations, and these 

variations could be material.

The present value of the Company’s estimated future net revenue disclosed in this Annual Information Form or the Sproule 

Report should not be construed as the fair market value of the Company’s reserves and contingent resources, as applicable.

BlackPearl has limited SAGD production history from its planned SAGD thermal project at Blackrod and the thermal project at 

Onion Lake. Estimates with respect to reserves and contingent resources that may be developed and produced in the future 

are often based upon volumetric calculations, and upon analogy to similar types of reserves and contingent resources, rather 

than those based on actual production history. Subsequent evaluation of the same reserves and contingent resources based 

upon production history will result in variations, which may be material, in the estimated reserves or contingent resources.

In addition, the reserves and contingent resource estimates have been determined based upon assumed commodity prices 

and operating costs. Market price fluctuations of heavy crude oil, bitumen and natural gas prices and an increase in actual 

operating costs experienced on a project may render the recovery of the reserves or contingent resources uneconomic.

A significant portion of BlackPearl’s reserves and contingent resources are non-producing or undeveloped. The reserves and 

contingent resources may not ultimately be developed or produced, either because it may not be commercially viable to 

do so or for other reasons. In addition, not all of the Company’s undeveloped reserves and contingent resources may be 

ultimately produced within the time period BlackPearl has planned, at the costs the Company has budgeted, or at all.

The estimates of reserves, contingent resources and future net revenue for individual properties may not reflect the same 

confidence level as estimates of reserves, contingent resources and future net revenue for all properties due to the effects of 

aggregation.
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Regulatory risks

Government Regulations

The Company’s operations are subject to various levels of government regulation. These regulations include, among other 

things, matters related to land tenure, drilling, production practices, environmental protection, royalties, carbon tax, market-

ing and pricing and various taxes and levies. Such regulations may be changed from time to time in response to economic or 

political conditions. The implementation of new regulations or the modification of existing regulations affecting the oil and 

gas industry could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and 

cash flows.

In general, the operations of BlackPearl require licenses and permits from various governmental authorities. The construction 

and operation of the thermal projects at Blackrod and Onion Lake will require various environmental and other regulatory 

approvals. Necessary regulatory approvals have been obtained for commercial development for the first and second phase of 

the Onion Lake thermal project, but future phases of the project will require additional approvals. During 2016, the Company 

received regulatory and environment approval for the Blackrod commercial development project; however, additional 

approvals will be required at various stages of developing this project.

There is no assurance that the applicable government authorities will issue the additional approvals required or that a third 

party will not object to the development of these projects. In addition, once permits are issued there is no assurance that the 

approvals will not be repealed, or renewed, or that they will contain terms and conditions which make the Company’s projects 

and operations uneconomic or cause the Company to significantly alter its projects and operations.

In response to recent court decisions, the Alberta Energy Regulator has implemented new regulations regarding the ability 

to transfer leases, licenses, permits, wells and facilities between parties. The AER has increased the minimum abandonment 

liability rating of the buyer before they will accept a transfer of oil and gas assets. These new regulations may make it more 

difficult and costly for producers, such as BlackPearl, to transfer or sell assets to other parties in the future.

Environmental Regulations

Our oil and gas operations are subject to significant environmental local, provincial and federal laws and regulations. 

Environmental legislation provides for, among other things, restrictions and prohibitions on spills, releases or emissions of 

various substances produced in association with oil and gas operations. The legislation also requires that wells and facility 

sites be constructed, operated, maintained, abandoned and reclaimed to the satisfaction of applicable regulatory authorities. 

Compliance with environmental legislation can require significant expenditures and failure to comply with these laws and 

regulations may result in the assessment of fines and penalties, orders to remediate property contamination and the issuance 

of injunctions that could limit or prohibit our operations, all of which could have a material impact on the Company. The 

discharge of oil, natural gas or other pollutants into the air, soil or water may give rise to liabilities to governments and third 

parties and may require BlackPearl to incur costs to remedy such discharge. It is likely the trend to stricter environmental 

legislation will continue. Changes in environmental laws and regulations may be enacted which could impose higher environ-

mental standards which may increase the cost of our operations and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 

condition, results of operations and cash flows. No assurance can be given that future environmental laws and regulations will 

not adversely impact the Company’s ability to develop or operate its projects.

Climate Change Regulations

GHG emission regulations in Canada and the US are evolving, but as these regulations are established they are likely to have 

a significant impact on organizations involved in the oil sands regions, including BlackPearl. It is difficult to assess the overall 

impact these regulations will have on BlackPearl at this time but it could result in increased costs to comply, delays in having 

projects approved and potentially a reduction in demand for oil from these regions, all of which could have a material nega-

tive impact on our business.
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The direct and indirect costs of the various GHG regulations, existing and proposed, may adversely affect our business, opera-

tions and financial results. Equipment that meets future emission standards may not be available on an economic basis and 

other compliance methods to reduce our emissions or emissions intensity to future required levels may significantly increase 

operating costs or reduce the output of the projects. Offset, performance or fund credits may not be available for acquisition 

or may not be available on an economic basis. Any failure to meet emission reduction compliance obligations may materi-

ally adversely affect BlackPearl’s business and result in fines, penalties and the suspension of operations. There is also a risk 

that one or more levels of government could impose additional emissions or emissions intensity reduction requirements or 

taxes on emissions created by BlackPearl or by consumers of BlackPearl’s products. The imposition of such measures might 

negatively affect BlackPearl’s costs and prices for BlackPearl’s products and have an adverse effect on earnings and results of 

operations.

Future federal legislation, including potential international requirements enacted under Canadian law, as well as provincial 

emissions reduction requirements, may require the reduction of GHG or other industrial air emissions, or emissions intensity, 

from BlackPearl’s operations and facilities. Mandatory emissions reduction requirements may result in increased operating 

costs and capital expenditures for oil and natural gas producers. The Company is unable to predict the impact of emissions 

reduction legislation on the Company and it is possible that such legislation may have a material adverse effect on its busi-

ness, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Various foreign jurisdictions have proposed restrictions or penalties on the importation of emission-intensive fuel sources, 

which may impact the importation of bitumen from oil sands regions. These restrictions could limit the markets in which 

BlackPearl and other bitumen producers can sell their oil, which could result in lower sales prices for our heavy crude oil and 

bitumen. In addition, the Canadian federal government has indicated that it may restrict the export of bitumen to countries 

with less stringent GHG emissions standards than Canada. If implemented, these restrictions could reduce the markets we are 

able to sell our bitumen products to, which may result in lower sales prices.

On January 1, 2017, the Alberta government enacted new climate change regulations which included a carbon tax that will be 

applied across all sectors and a cap on oil sand emissions with a target of 100 megatonnes limit in any year by 2030. Currently 

the Alberta carbon tax has minimal effect on the Company’s earnings and cash flow as the majority of our production comes 

from Saskatchewan and conventional production in Alberta is exempt from the carbon tax until 2023. The only production 

the Company has that is subject to the Alberta carbon tax is from the Blackrod property. These new regulations could have a 

material adverse impact on the Company’s earnings and cash flow in the future and could make future capital investments or 

the Company’s operations uneconomic. There is no assurance that these new regulations will not affect the development of 

the Blackrod SAGD project.

On December 9, 2016, the federal government and all provinces, except Saskatchewan, signed the Pan-Canadian Framework 

to meet the federal government’s 2030 target of a 30% reduction in GHG emissions. The Pan-Canadian Framework requires all 

provinces and territories to have a carbon pricing scheme in some form by 2018. To date, there has been no legislation intro-

duced on the federal carbon pricing scheme. These new regulations could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s 

earnings and cash flow in the future and could make future capital investments or the Company’s operations uneconomic. 

There is no assurance that these new regulations will not affect the development of the Blackrod SAGD project.

Royalty Regimes

The governments of Alberta and Saskatchewan receive royalties on production of natural resources from lands in which they 

own the mineral rights. At Onion Lake, our operations are conducted on the OLCN reserve, and the Company pays royalties to 

Indian Oil and Gas Canada based on production on reserve lands. The royalty paid at Onion Lake is equivalent to the prevail-

ing government of Saskatchewan royalty rate (without reference to third tier, fourth tier, enhanced oil recovery royalties, 

holidays or other special incentives).
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The government of Alberta has publicly indicated that it intends to review its existing royalty regime from time to time. There 

can be no assurance that the federal government and the governments of Alberta or Saskatchewan will not adopt a new roy-

alty regime which will make the Company’s projects uneconomic or that the regime currently in place will remain unchanged. 

An increase in royalties would reduce the Company’s earnings and cash flow and could make future capital investments or 

the Company’s operations uneconomic.

Other Risks

Information Systems

The Company has become increasingly dependent on information systems to conduct day-to-day operations, including 

certain of our exploration, development and production activities. We depend on information systems, among other things, 

to estimate quantities of oil and natural gas reserves, process and recorded financial and operating data, analyze seismic and 

drilling information, process electronic payment transfers and store banking information, monitor and control pipeline and 

plant equipment, process and store personally identifiable information of our employees, contractors and royalty owners 

and communicate with employees, stakeholders and business associates. The Company is subject to a variety of information 

system risks including potential breakdown, invasion, virus, cyber-attack, cyber-fraud, security breach and destruction or 

interruption of the Company’s information systems by third parties or insiders that could result in the disruption of our busi-

ness operations and/or financial loss.

Management is responsible for overseeing the Company’s information systems and although we have security measures 

and controls in place that are designed to monitor and protect against these threats and mitigate these risks, there can be no 

assurance that these procedures and controls will be sufficient in preventing security threats from materializing. A breach of 

security measures and/or a loss of information could occur and result in a loss of material and confidential information and 

reputation, breach of privacy laws and a disruption to its business activities. Any such event may be material and could have 

material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company.

CONTROL CERTIFICATION

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) as defined in National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ 

Annual and Interim Filings, means controls and other procedures of an issuer that are designed to provide reasonable assur-

ance that information required to be disclosed by the issuer in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submit-

ted by it under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the 

securities legislation and include controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by 

an issuer in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted under securities legislation is accumulated and 

communicated to the issuer’s management, including its certifying officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding 

required disclosure. The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company evaluated the effectiveness of the 

design and operation of the Company’s DC&P. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 

concluded that the Company’s DC&P were effective as at December 31, 2016.

It should be noted that while the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer believe that the Company’s 

DC&P provide a reasonable level of assurance that they are effective, they do not expect that the DC&P will necessarily prevent 

all errors and fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived or operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, 

assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”), as defined in National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ 

Annual and Interim Filings, means a process designed by, or under the supervision of, an issuer’s certifying officers, and effected 

by the issuer’s board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
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of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with the issuer’s GAAP 

and includes those policies and procedures that:

(a)	 Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 

dispositions of the assets of the issuer;

(b)	 Are designed to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 

of financial statements in accordance with the issuer’s GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the issuer are being 

made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the issuer; and

(c)	 Are designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisi-

tion, use or disposition of the issuer’s assets that could have a material effect on the annual financial statements or interim 

financial reports.

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer are responsible for establishing and maintaining ICFR for the 

Company. They have, as at the financial year ended December 31, 2016, designed ICFR, or caused it to be designed under their 

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 

statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.

Under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, the Company conducted an evaluation of 

the effectiveness of the Company’s ICFR as at December 31, 2016. Based on this evaluation, the officers concluded that as of 

December 31, 2016, the Company maintained effective ICFR.

It should be noted that a control system, including the Company’s ICFR, no matter how well conceived can provide only 

reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system will be met and it should not be expected 

that the ICFR will prevent all errors or fraud.

There were no changes in the Company’s ICFR during the year ended December 31, 2016 that materially affected, or are 

reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s ICFR.

2016 GUIDANCE AND 2017 OUTLOOK

2016 2017
February

Guidance Actual
Initial

Guidance

Production (boe/d)

Annual average 9,000 - 10,000 10,077 10,000 - 11,000

Cash flow from operating activities ($million) (1) 5 - 10 42 65 - 70

Funds flow from operations (2) ($millions) 5 - 10 45 65 - 70

Capital expenditures ($millions) 10 - 15 11 200

Year-end debt ($millions) 90 - 95 Nil 135 - 140

Pricing Assumptions (annual average)

Crude oil – WTI US $35.00 US $43.32 US $54.50

Light/heavy differential US $14.00 US $13.90 US $14.75

Foreign Exchange (Cdn$ to US$) 0.71 0.76 0.75

(1)	� Cash flow from operating activities is a GAAP measure and has a standardized meaning prescribed by Canadian GAAP.

(2)	� Funds flow from operations is a non-GAAP measure. Funds flow from operations does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and, therefore, 
may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies in the oil and gas industry.
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2016 Guidance Compared to Actual

BlackPearl’s average oil and gas production of 10,077 boe/day was slightly higher than our February guidance range we pro-

vided for the year. This is attributable to the positive performance from the first phase of the Onion Lake thermal project 

which averaged 5,520 bbls/d during the year.

Cash flow from operating activities and funds flow from operations were above the guidance range primarily as a result of 

higher crude oil prices. Our actual wellhead price for 2016 was $31.57 per bbl compared to $18.79 per bbl assumed in our 

guidance. In addition, the low oil price environment led the Company to focus on reducing costs during the year which also 

partially contributes to the higher actual cash flow and funds flow compared to the guidance provided in 2016.

At December 31, 2016, the Company had no debt, a significant decrease from our February guidance range of $90 to $95 

million. The Company’s focus on using most of our cash flow to reduce debt levels and using the proceeds on the unbudgeted 

sale of a royalty interest on our Onion Lake property of $55 million to re-pay long-term debt contributed to the lower than 

anticipated debt levels at the end of the year.

2017 Initial Guidance

Capital spending in 2017 will be approximately $200 million. Expansion of the Onion Lake thermal project is our main focus 

for 2017. We have begun preliminary spending on planning and long lead items for the project with a target completion date 

of mid-2018. In addition to the expansion of the Onion Lake thermal project we also plan to resume drilling on some of our 

conventional heavy oil projects at John Lake, Onion Lake and other minor project areas.

We are planning to fund a significant portion of the capital costs of the Onion Lake expansion with our funds flow from 

operations, which we are budgeting to be between $65 and $70 million, and our undrawn credit facilities. We are looking to 

supplement these sources with $75 to $100 million of additional term debt financing to provide us with financial flexibility 

during the construction phase. In the event that we are unable to obtain additional financing we will reduce capital spending 

on our conventional heavy oil projects.

Oil and gas production is expected to average between 10,000 and 11,000 boe/d in 2017. This will include bringing back some 

of our shut-in production at Onion Lake as well as reactivating phase one of the ASP flood at Mooney.

Sensitivities for 2017 Initial Guidance

The significant factors that would affect forecast funds flows and net income (loss) include commodity prices, heavy oil dif-

ferentials, exchange rates and production volumes.

($millions) Funds Flow Net Income (Loss)

Price change

CDN$5 per bbl change in our realized oil price 15.9 11.6

CDN$1 per bbl change in production costs 3.7 2.7

Exchange rate

$0.02 change in US/CDN rate 2.8 2.0

Production rate

500 bbl per day change 4.1 4.1
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains certain forward-looking statements and forward-looking information (collectively referred to as “forward-

looking statements”) within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities laws. All statements other than statements of 

historical fact are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking information typically contains statements with words such 

as “anticipate”, “anticipated”, “approximately”, “plan”, “planning”, “planned”, “could”, “continue”, “continued”, “estimate”, 

“estimates”, “estimated”, “forecast”, “forecasted”, “likely”, “expect”, “expected”, “may”, “impact”, “new”, “will”, “scheduled”, 

“outlook” or similar words suggesting future outcomes.

In particular, but without limiting the foregoing, this report contains forward-looking statements pertaining to our business 

plans and strategies; capital expenditure and drilling programs including:

●	�� Borrowing capacity on our credit facilities is expected to be used to partially fund the expansion of our thermal opera-

tions at Onion Lake as discussed in the 2016 Significant Events section;

●	�� The volumes and estimated value of the Company’s proved and probable reserves as discussed in the 2016 Significant 

Events section;

●	�� The volumes and estimated value of the Company’s contingent resources as discussed in the 2016 Significant Events 

section;

●	��� The expected decision by OPEC and certain non-OPEC countries to reduce their oil output as discussed in the Commodity 

Prices section;

●	��� The expectation of increased oil production in Canada and the need to secure additional pipeline capacity to tidewater 

as discussed in the Commodity Prices section;

●	��� The estimated change in funds flow from operations for 2016 due to changes in key variables as discussed in the 

Commodity Prices section;

●	��� With the recent improvement in crude oil prices, the Company plans to selectively bring back on production some of the 

shut-in wells at Mooney and Onion Lake as discussed in the Oil and Gas Production, Oil and Gas Pricing and Oil and Gas 

sales section;

●	��� Exploring financing options to accelerate development of the Blackrod SAGD project as discussed in the Oil and Gas 

Production, Oil and Gas Pricing and Oil and Gas sales section;

●	�� Expectation that royalty rates in 2017 and future periods will increase to reflect the royalty interest sale in late 2016 as 

discussed in the Royalties section;

●	�� Expectation that administrative costs in the future will rise as salary reductions implemented in the low oil price environ-

ment will likely be rescinded as oil prices stabilize as discussed in General and Administrative Expenses section;

●	��� Expected stock-based compensation expense for 2017 and 2018 as discussed in the Stock-based Compensation section;

●	�� Potential future asset impairments or reversals of impairments as discussed in the Impairment section;

●	�� Expected cash taxes to be paid in 2017 as discussed in the Income Taxes section;

●	��� Exploring financing options and estimated costs to expand our Onion Lake thermal project as discussed in the Liquidity 

and Capital Resources section;
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●	�� Exploring financing options and estimated costs to accelerate development of the Blackrod SAGD project as discussed in 

the Liquidity and Capital Resources section;

●	�� The Company’s expectation that it will not be paying dividends in the near term as discussed in the Liquidity and Capital 

resources section;

●	�� A number of statements under the Risk Factors section since they relate to future conditions and results; and

●	�� All of the statements under the Outlook section and the table presented since they are estimates of future conditions 

and results.

The forward-looking statements in this document reflect certain assumptions and expectations by management. The key 

assumptions that have been made in connection with these forward-looking statements include the continuation of current 

or, where applicable, assumed industry conditions, the continuation of existing tax, royalty and regulatory regimes, commod-

ity price and cost assumptions, the continued availability of cash flow or financing on acceptable terms to fund the Company’s 

capital programs, the accuracy of the estimate of the Company’s reserves and resource volumes and that BlackPearl will 

conduct its operations in a manner consistent with past operations. Although management considers these assumptions to 

be reasonable based on information currently available to it, they may prove to be incorrect.

By their very nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to 

differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to, risks asso-

ciated with fluctuations in market prices for crude oil, natural gas and diluent; risks related to the exploration, development 

and production of crude oil, natural gas and NGLs reserves; general economic, market and business conditions; substantial 

capital requirements; uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of reserves and resources; extent of, and cost of compli-

ance with, government laws and regulations and the effect of changes in such laws and regulations from time to time; the 

need to obtain regulatory approvals on projects before development commences; environmental risks and hazards and the 

cost of compliance with environmental regulations; aboriginal claims; inherent risks and hazards with operations such as fire, 

explosion, blowouts, mechanical or pipe failure, cratering, oil spills, vandalism and other dangerous conditions; potential 

cost overruns; variations in foreign exchange rates; diluent supply shortages; competition for capital, equipment, new leases, 

pipeline capacity and skilled personnel; uncertainties inherent in the SAGD bitumen and ASP recovery processes; credit risks 

associated with counterparties; the failure of the Company or the holder of licenses, leases and permits to meet requirements 

of such licenses, leases and permits; reliance on third parties for pipelines and other infrastructure; changes in royalty regimes; 

failure to accurately estimate abandonment and reclamation costs; inaccurate estimates and assumptions by management; 

effectiveness of internal controls; the potential lack of available drilling equipment and other restrictions; failure to obtain or 

keep key personnel; title deficiencies with the Company’s assets; geo-political risks; risks that the Company does not have 

adequate insurance coverage; risk of litigation and risks arising from future acquisition activities. Further information regard-

ing these risk factors and others may be found under “Risk Factors” in the Annual Information Form.

Undue reliance should not be placed on these forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned that the actual results 

achieved will vary from the information provided herein and the variations could be material. Readers are also cautioned that 

the foregoing list of assumptions, risks and factors is not exhaustive. Consequently, there is no assurance by the Company that 

actual results achieved will be the same in whole or in part as those set out in the forward-looking statements. Furthermore, 

the forward-looking statements contained in this document are made as of the date hereof, and the Company does not 

undertake any obligation, except as required by applicable securities legislation, to update publicly or to revise any of the 

included forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. The forward-

looking statements contained herein are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement.



3 4	 B L A C K P E A R L  R E S O U R C E S  I N C .  /  2016 F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LY S I S

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON CONTINGENT RESOURCES

This document makes reference to contingent resources. Contingent resources are defined in the COGE Handbook as those 

quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from known accumulations using estab-

lished technology or technology under development, but are not currently considered to be commercially recoverable due to 

one or more contingencies. Contingencies may include factors such as economic, legal, environmental, political and regula-

tory matters or a lack of markets and the uncertainty of timing of producing and development of the entire field. See our 

Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2016 for detailed descriptions of the contingences for each our 

core areas.

There is no certainty that it will be commercially viable to produce any of the contingent resources. Best estimate (P50) is a 

classification of estimated resources described in the COGE Handbook as being considered to be the best estimate of the 

quantity that will be actually recovered. It is equally likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will be greater or less 

than the best estimate. If probabilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 50% probability that the quantities actually 

recovered will equal or exceed the best estimate.
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The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of BlackPearl Resources Inc. and related financial information 

presented in this financial report are the responsibility of Management and have been approved by the Board of Directors. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements and related financial information reflect amounts which must, of necessity, be 

based upon informed estimates and judgments of Management with appropriate consideration to materiality. All financial 

information contained in the financial report is consistent, where appropriate, with that contained in the Consolidated 

Financial Statements.

The Company has developed and maintains systems of internal controls, policies and procedures in order to provide 

reasonable assurance as to the reliability of the financial records and the safeguard of assets. Internal control systems, no 

matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide 

only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statements preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any 

evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 

conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent external auditor, has been engaged, as appointed by the shareholders of the 

Company, to audit and provide their independent audit opinion on the Corporation’s financial statements as at and for the 

year ended December 31, 2016. They review Black Pearl Resources Inc.’s systems of internal controls and conduct their work 

to the extent they deem appropriate. The auditor’s report dated February 22, 2017 and included in the Consolidated Financial 

Statements, outlines the nature of their audit and expresses their opinion on the financial statements.

The Board of Directors has established an Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reviews with Management and the external 

auditors any significant financial reporting issues, the financial statements, and any other matters of relevance to the parties. 

The Audit Committee meets quarterly to review and approve the interim financial statements prior to their release, as well as 

annually to review the Company’s annual financial statements and Management’s discussion and analysis, and to recommend 

their approval to the Board of Directors. The external auditors have unrestricted access to the Company, the Audit Committee 

and the Board of Directors.

(signed)		  (signed)

John L. Festival	 Donald W. Cook

President and Chief Executive Officer	 Chief Financial Officer

February 22, 2017
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To the Shareholders of BlackPearl Resources Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of BlackPearl Resources Inc. and its subsidiaries, which 

comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, and the consolidated statements 

of comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a 

summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such 

internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 

audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethi-

cal requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 

statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assess-

ments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriate-

ness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of BlackPearl 

Resources Inc. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 and their financial performance and cash 

flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board.

Chartered Professional Accountants

February 22, 2017

Calgary, Alberta
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(audited) 
(Cdn$ in thousands) Note December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5 	 $	 5,368 	 $	 2,300

Trade and other receivables 6 13,391 10,801

Inventory 46 605

Prepaid expenses and deposits 705 1,283

Fair value of risk management assets 17 – 10,548

19,510 25,537

Exploration and evaluation assets 8 170,737 169,493

Property, plant and equipment 9 542,157 613,314

	 $	 732,404 	 $	 808,344

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10 	 $	 17,950 	 $	 13,939

Current portion of decommissioning liabilities 11 644 535

Current portion of deferred consideration 7 404 –

Fair value of risk management liabilities 17 5,507 –

24,505 14,474

Fair value of risk management liabilities 17 452 1,223

Decommissioning liabilities 11 71,122 66,392

Deferred consideration 7 14,425 –

Long-term debt 12 – 88,000

110,504 170,089

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 13 970,513 970,134

Contributed surplus 42,994 39,800

Deficit (391,607) (371,679)

621,900 638,255

	 $	 732,404 	 $	 808,344

Commitments and contingencies (note 16)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Signed on behalf of the Board:

(signed)		  (signed)

John H. Craig		  Brian D. Edgar
Chairman and Director	 Director
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(audited)
(Cdn$ in thousands, except for per share amounts) Note

Year ended
December 31, 2016

Year ended
December 31, 2015

Revenue

Oil and gas sales 	 $	 109,066 	 $	 96,271

Royalties (13,785) (16,190)

Net oil and gas revenue 95,281 80,081

Gain (loss) on risk management contracts 17 (4,490) 25,924

90,791 106,005

Expenses

Production 43,334 56,246

Transportation 7,801 3,194

General and administrative 6,896 7,676

Depletion and depreciation 9 44,626 51,950

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 9 – 33,000

Finance costs 18 4,723 3,078

Stock-based compensation 13 3,302 5,866

Foreign currency exchange loss (gain) 46 (141)

110,728 160,869

Other income

Interest income 9 53

Loss before income taxes (19,928) (54,811)

Income taxes 

Deferred income recovery 14 – (8,018)

Net and comprehensive loss for the year 	 $	 (19,928) 	 $	 (46,793)

Loss per share

Basic 13 	 $	 (0.06) 	 $	 (0.14)

Diluted 13 	 $	 (0.06) 	 $	 (0.14)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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(audited)
(Cdn$ in thousands)

Year ended December 31, 2016
Share

Capital
Contributed

Surplus Deficit
Total

Equity

Balance – January 1, 2016 	 $	 970,134 	 $	 39,800 	 $	 (371,679) 	 $	 638,255

Net and comprehensive loss for the year – – (19,928) (19,928)

Stock-based compensation – 3,302 – 3,302

Shares issued on exercise of stock options 271 – – 271

Transfer to share capital on exercise of stock 
options 108 (108) – –

Balance – December 31, 2016 	 $	 970,513 	 $	 42,994 	 $	 (391,607) 	 $	 621,900

Year ended December 31, 2015
Share

Capital
Contributed

Surplus Deficit
Total

Equity

Balance – January 1, 2015 	 $	 970,134 	 $	 33,788 	 $	 (324,886) 	 $	 679,036

Net and comprehensive loss for the year – – (46,793) (46,793)

Stock-based compensation – 6,012 – 6,012

Balance – December 31, 2015 	 $	 970,134 	 $	 39,800 	 $	 (371,679) 	 $	 638,255

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S

(audited)
(Cdn$ in thousands) Note

Year ended
December 31, 2016

Year ended
December 31, 2015

Operating activities

Net and comprehensive loss for the year 	 $	 (19,928) 	 $	 (46,793)

Items not involving cash:

Depletion and depreciation 9 44,626 51,950

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 9 – 33,000

Accretion of decommissioning liabilities 18 1,461 1,646

Stock-based compensation 13 3,302 5,866

Foreign exchange loss 31 8

Deferred income recovery 14 – (8,018)

Unrealized loss on risk management contracts 17 15,283 11,303

Decommissioning costs incurred 11 (580) (531)

Changes in non-cash working capital 18 (1,704) 13,913

Cash flow from operating activities 42,491 62,344

Financing activities

Proceeds on issue of common shares, net of costs 271 –

Proceeds on issue of long-term debt 12 – 68,000

Repayment of long-term debt 12 (88,000) (9,000)

Cash flow from (used) in financing activities (87,729) 59,000

Investing activities

Capital expenditures - exploration and evaluation assets 8 (967) (3,477)

Capital expenditures - property, plant and equipment 9 (9,958) (64,885)

Proceeds from disposition of property, plant and equipment 7 55,000 –

Changes in non-cash working capital 18 4,216 (53,451)

Cash flow from (used) in investing activities 48,291 (121,813)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
held in foreign currency 15 (149)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,068 (618)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 2,300 2,918

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 	 $	 5,368 	 $	 2,300

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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N O T E S  T O  T H E  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

(tabular amounts in thousands of Cdn$, except as noted)

(audited)

1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

BlackPearl Resources Inc. (together with its subsidiaries collectively referred to as the “Company” or “BlackPearl”) is 

engaged in the business of oil and gas exploration, development and production in North America. The Company’s pri-

mary focus is on heavy oil and oil sands projects in Western Canada. The Company’s common shares are listed and traded 

on the TSX Exchange under the trading symbol “PXX”. The Company’s Swedish Depository Receipts trade on the NASDAQ 

Stockholm Exchange under the symbol “PXXS”. BlackPearl is incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act 

and is located in Canada. The address of its registered office is 900, 215 – 9th Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta, T2P 1K3.

2. 	 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Company prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). These consolidated financial statements 

were approved and authorized for issuance by the Company’s Board of Directors (“the Board”) on February 22, 2017.

3. 	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are described 

below.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for risk management con-

tracts which are measured at fair value.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company comprise the financial statements of BlackPearl and its subsidiar-

ies as at December 31, 2016. All intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains and losses from intercompany 

transactions are eliminated in full on consolidation. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The Company 

controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its investment with the entity and has the 

ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Joint arrangements

A portion of the Company’s activities are owned and operated jointly with other parties. All the Company’s joint arrange-

ments are classified as joint operations. These consolidated financial statements reflect only the Company’s appropriate 

share of the joint operation’s controlled assets and liabilities it has incurred, its share of any liabilities jointly incurred, 

income from the sale or use of its share of the joint operation’s output, together with its share of expenses incurred by 

the joint operation and any expenses it incurs in relation to its interest in the joint arrangement and a share of production 

in such activities.

Financial instruments

The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, deposits within 

prepaid expenses and deposits, risk management assets and liabilities, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 
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long-term debt. Financial instruments are initially classified into one of the following five categories: fair value through 

profit or loss, loans and receivables, held to maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets or financial liabilities 

measured at amortized costs. Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value, except in the case of financial 

liabilities measured at amortized costs which are initially measured at fair value less directly attributable transaction 

costs.

The subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities depends on their classification as described 

below:

(i)	 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are either ‘held-for-trading’ or have been ‘desig-

nated at fair value through profit or loss’. In both cases the financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value 

with changes in fair value recognized in net income.

(ii)	 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market. After initial measurement, these assets are measured at amortized cost at the settlement date using the 

effective interest method of amortization.

(iii)	 Held-to-maturity

Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost at the settlement date using the effective interest 

method of amortization.

(iv)	 Available-for-sale

Available for sale financial instruments are measured at fair value, with changes in the fair value recognized in other 

comprehensive income or loss. When an active market is non-existent, fair value is determined using a valuation 

technique. When fair value cannot be reliably measured, such assets are carried at cost.

(v)	 Financial liabilities at amortized cost

These financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of any transactions costs. Subsequently, these liabili-

ties are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method of amortization.

The Company has no financial assets or financial liabilities that give rise to other comprehensive income or loss. Financial 

assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet if there is a cur-

rently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis. Financial 

assets and financial liabilities are classified as current if they are assumed to be settled within one year; otherwise they 

are classified as non-current.

Risk management contracts

From time to time, the Company enters into certain risk management contracts in order to manage the exposure to mar-

ket risks from fluctuations in commodity prices. These risk management contracts are not used for trading or speculative 

purposes. The Company has not designated its risk management contracts as effective accounting hedges, and thus 

has not applied hedge accounting, even though the Company considers all risk management contracts to be economic 

hedges. As a result, all risk management contracts are recorded at fair value at each reporting period with the change in 

fair value being recognized as an unrealized gain or loss on the statement of comprehensive income or loss.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held with banks, and other short-term highly liquid invest-

ments with original maturities of three months or less.

Inventory

Inventory is carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value on a weighted average cost basis. The cost of inventory 

includes all cost incurred in the normal course of business to bring each product to its present location and condition. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less any expected selling costs. If 

the carrying amount exceeds net realizable value, a write-down is recognized. The write-down may be reversed in a 

subsequent period if circumstances which caused it no longer exist and the inventory is still on hand.

Exploration and evaluation costs

Exploration and evaluation (E&E) activity involves the search for hydrocarbon resources, the determination of technical 

feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource. E&E costs are capitalized for projects 

prior to their technical feasibility and commercial viability being determined. These costs may include costs of license 

acquisition, technical services and studies, seismic acquisition, exploration drilling and testing, directly attributable 

overhead and administration expenses including remuneration of production personnel and supervisory management, 

the projected decommissioning costs and any activities in relation to evaluating the technical feasibility and commercial 

viability of extracting mineral resources. Costs incurred prior to acquiring the legal rights to explore an area are charged 

directly to net income as exploration and evaluation expense. Assets classified as E&E are not depleted or depreciated.

All capitalized E&E costs are subject to technical feasibility and commercial viability, management review and a review for 

indicators of impairment at each reporting period. This is to confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract 

value from the resource. When an E&E area is determined not to be technically feasible or commercially viable, or the 

Company decides not to continue with its activity, the unrecoverable E&E costs are charged to net income as exploration 

and evaluation expense.

Once technical feasibility and commercial viability are confirmed, the E&E asset is first assessed for impairment and if 

required, any impairment loss is recognized. The remaining carrying amount of the E&E asset is then reclassified to prop-

erty, plant and equipment. Technical feasibility and commercial viability is established when significant proved reserves 

are recognized and regulatory approval has been obtained.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depletion and depreciation and accumulated impair-

ment losses. All costs directly associated with the development of petroleum and natural gas reserves are capitalized 

on an area by area basis. Development costs include expenditures for areas where technical feasibility and commercial 

viability has been determined. These costs include proved property acquisitions, development drilling, completion, 

gathering and infrastructure, decommissioning costs and transfers of exploration and evaluation assets. Borrowing 

costs incurred during the construction of qualifying assets are capitalized during the period of time that is required to 

complete and prepare the assets for their intended use.

Costs accumulated within each area are depleted using the unit-of-production method based on proved and probable 

reserves using estimated future prices and costs. Costs subject to depletion include estimated future costs to be incurred 

in developing proved and probable reserves. These estimates are reviewed by independent reserve engineers at least 

annually.
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Corporate assets consist primarily of office equipment, leasehold improvements and computer equipment/software and 

are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of these corporate assets is calculated using the declining-

balance method.

For property dispositions, measurement is at fair value, unless the transaction lacks commercial substance or fair value 

cannot be reliably measured. Where the exchange is measured at fair value, a gain or loss is recognized in net income. 

Any deferred consideration recorded on property dispositions are recognized as revenue in the statement of compre-

hensive income or loss over the reserve life.

At each reporting period, a review is done to ensure that the asset’s residual values, useful lives and methods of deple-

tion/depreciation are appropriate. If necessary, changes are made prospectively.

Cash generating unit (CGU)

The Company’s exploration and evaluation costs and property, plant and equipment costs are aggregated into CGUs. 

CGUs are defined as the lowest level of integrated assets for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows that are 

largely independent of cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Impairment

Non-financial assets

The carrying value of the Company’s non-financial assets is assessed for impairment at least annually and reviewed at 

each reporting date for indicators that the carrying value of an asset or CGU may be impaired. These indicators include, 

but are not limited to, extended decreases in prices or margins for oil and gas commodities or products, market capi-

talization, a significant downward revision in estimated reserves or an upward revision in future development costs. If 

indicators of impairment exist, the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU is estimated.

The recoverable amount of individual assets and CGUs is the greater of their fair value less costs of disposal and its value 

in use. Fair value less costs of disposal is determined to be the amount for which the asset could be sold in an arm’s length 

transaction, less the costs of disposal. Value in use is determined by estimating the present value of the future net cash 

flows expected to be derived from the continued use of the asset or CGU. Unless indicated otherwise, the recoverable 

amount used in assessing impairment charges is fair value less costs of disposal. The Company estimates fair value less 

costs of disposal using an after tax discounted cash flow model. If the carrying value of the asset or CGU exceeds the 

recoverable amount, the asset or CGU is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount with impair-

ment recognized in net income.

An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that previously recognized 

impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If indication exists, the Company estimates the asset’s or CGU’s 

recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in assumptions 

used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. In this event, the car-

rying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to its revised recoverable amount with an impairment reversal recognized 

in net income. The recoverable amount is limited to the original carrying amount less depletion and depreciation as if no 

impairment had been recognized for the asset or CGU for prior periods.

Financial assets

The Company will assess at each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset, other 

than those measured at fair value, is impaired. A financial asset is deemed to be impaired if there is objective evidence of 

impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred since the initial recognition of the asset that has a negative 

impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset.
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When assessing impairment of the Company’s financial assets carried at amortized cost, the carrying value of the finan-

cial assets is compared to the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted using the instrument’s original 

effective interest rate. An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after 

the impairment loss was recognized. For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the reversal is recognized in income 

or loss.

Decommissioning liabilities

Decommissioning liabilities include present legal or constructive obligations as a result of past events where the Company 

will be required to retire tangible long-lived assets such as producing well sites and facilities. The obligation generally 

arises when the asset is installed or the ground/environment is disturbed at the field location. When the liability is initially 

recognized, the amount represents management’s estimate of the present value of the estimated future expenditures 

to abandon and reclaim the Company’s net ownership in wells and facilities as well as an estimate of the future timing of 

the costs to be incurred. When a liability is recorded, the carrying amount of the related asset is increased by the same 

amount.

These costs are subsequently depleted as part of the costs of the item of property, plant and equipment. Any changes in 

the estimated timing of the decommissioning, or decommissioning costs estimates, or changes in the discount rate used 

to calculate the present value of future expenditures are accounted for prospectively by recording an adjustment to the 

provision for decommissioning liabilities and a corresponding adjustment to property, plant and equipment.

Increases in decommissioning liabilities resulting from the passage of time are recorded as a finance cost in the consoli-

dated statement of comprehensive income or loss. Actual expenditures incurred are charged against the accumulated 

decommissioning liability as incurred. The provision is re-measured at each reporting period in order to reflect the infla-

tion and risk-free rate in effect at that time.

Stock-based compensation

Periodically, the Company will grant stock options in exchange for the provision of services from certain employees, 

directors, officers and consultants. The Company follows the fair value method of valuing stock option grants using the 

Black-Scholes pricing model. Stock-based compensation expense is determined based on the estimated fair value of 

shares on the date of grant. Forfeitures are estimated at the grant date and are subsequently adjusted to reflect actual 

forfeitures. The expense is recognized over the service period, with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. 

The Company capitalizes the qualifying portion of the stock-based compensation directly attributable to the develop-

ment activities of exploration and evaluation and property, plant and equipment assets with a corresponding decrease 

to stock-based compensation expense. At the time the stock options are exercised, the issuance of common shares is 

recorded as an increase to shareholders’ capital and a corresponding decrease to contributed surplus.

Contingencies

When a contingency is substantiated by confirming events, can be reliably measured and will likely result in an economic 

outflow; a liability is recognized in the consolidated financial statements as the best estimate required to settle the 

obligation. A contingent liability is disclosed when the possibility is considered more than remote but not yet probable, 

where the existence of an obligation will only be confirmed by future events, or where the amount of a present obligation 

cannot be measured reliably or will likely not result in an economic outflow. Contingent assets are only disclosed when 

the inflow of economic benefits is probable. When the economic benefit becomes virtually certain, the asset is no longer 

contingent and is recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
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Income tax

Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the statement of comprehen-

sive income or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case the income tax 

is also recognized directly in equity.

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that 

are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Company operates and generates 

taxable income.

In general, deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences arising 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements at the 

reporting date. Deferred income tax is determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax asset or 

liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered and 

any deferred income tax assets and/or liabilities are presented as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset and the deferred tax amounts 

relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity. The Company intends to settle current 

tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except, 

in the case of subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Company and 

it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, the 

revenue can be reliably measured and it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company. This takes 

place once delivery has occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. Risk 

and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer at the time the product is shipped and delivered to 

the customer and, depending on the delivery conditions, title and risk have passed to the customer and acceptance of 

the product, when contractually required, has been obtained. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable, excluding discounts, sales taxes, excise duties and similar levies based on the price specified in 

the sales contract.

Share capital

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of shares are recognized 

as a deduction, net of tax, from equity.

Income (loss) per share

Basic income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) for the year attributable to equity owners of 

BlackPearl by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted income (loss) per 

share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for dilutive instruments, 

such as stock options, using the treasury stock method. The treasury stock method assumes proceeds from dilutive 

instruments are used to purchase common shares at the average market price during the year.
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Finance costs

The Company’s finance costs include interest and financing charges, accretion of decommissioning liabilities and debt 

financing costs. Interest and financing charges are recognized using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a 

substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective assets until 

such time the asset is substantially ready for its intended use. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an 

entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. All other borrowing costs are recognized in the statement of 

comprehensive income or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 

which the Company operates (the “functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, 

which is the Company’s functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Canadian dollars at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the trans-

actions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated 

into Canadian dollars at rates of exchange in effect at the end of the period. Foreign currency differences arising on 

translation are recognized in income or loss.

Accounting standards issued but not yet applied

The standards and interpretations that are issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Company’s 

financial statements are listed below.

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“IFRS 15”) to replace IAS 11, “Construction 

Contracts”, IAS 18, “Revenue” and a number of revenue-related interpretations. IFRS 15 specifies how and when to recog-

nize revenue as well as requiring entities to provide users of financial statements with more informative, relevant disclo-

sures. IFRS 15 is effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with earlier adoption permitted. The standard 

may be applied retrospectively or using a modified retrospective approach. The Company is currently evaluating the 

impact of adopting IFRS 15 on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”) to replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement.” IFRS 9 is effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Early adoption is permitted if IFRS 9 

is adopted in its entirety at the beginning of a fiscal period. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting 

IFRS 9 on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, “Leases” (“IFRS 16”) to replace IAS 17, “Leases.” Under IFRS 16, a single recognition 

and measurement model will apply for lessees which will require recognition of assets and liabilities for most leases. IFRS 

16 is effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2019 with earlier adoption permitted. The Company is currently 

evaluating the impact of adopting IFRS 16 on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In January 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 7, “Statement of Cash Flows” (“IAS 7”) as part of its disclosure initia-

tive. The amendments require an entity to disclose changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. IAS 7 is effective 

for years beginning on or after January 1, 2017 with earlier adoption permitted. The Company will apply amendments to 

IAS 7 on January 1, 2017 which will have immaterial impact on our consolidated financial statements. 
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The timely preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires that management use 

judgement and make estimates and assumptions regarding the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures 

of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of 

revenues and expenses during the period. Such estimates primarily relate to unsettled transactions and events as of 

the date of the consolidated financial statements. The estimated fair value of financial assets and liabilities, by their very 

nature, are subject to measurement uncertainty. Accordingly, actual results may differ from estimated amounts as future 

confirming events occur.

(a)	 Significant accounting judgements

Areas where management exercise judgement in the process of applying accounting policies that have the most signifi-

cant effect on the amounts recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements include:

(i)	 Identification of CGUs

The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets and property, plant and equipment assets are aggregated into 

CGUs. CGUs are defined as the lowest level of integrated assets for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows 

that are largely independent of cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. The classification of assets into 

CGUs requires significant judgement and interpretation by management. Factors considered in the classification of 

CGUs include integration between assets, shared infrastructure, common sales points, similar geological structure, 

geographical proximity and the manner in which management monitors and makes decisions about operations. 

The recoverability of the Company’s long-lived assets is assessed at the CGU level and as such; the determination of 

the CGU could have a significant impact on impairment losses.

(ii)	 Exploration and evaluation assets

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for E&E assets requires judgement in determining whether it is 

likely that future economic benefit exists when activities have not reached a stage where technical feasibility and 

commercial viability can be reasonably determined. Factors such as proved and probable reserves, drilling results, 

future capital programs and future operating costs are considered. If it is determined that an E&E asset is not techni-

cally feasible and commercially viable or management decides not to continue E&E activity, the unrecoverable E&E 

costs are charged to exploration expense.

The decision to transfer exploration and evaluation assets to property, plant and equipment is when commercial 

viability and technical feasibility is established. Technical feasibility and commercial viability is established when 

significant proved reserves are recognized and regulatory approval has been obtained.

(iii)	 Sale of a royalty interest

When the Company sells a royalty interest linked to production at a specific property, judgment is required in assess-

ing the appropriate accounting treatment of the transaction on the closing date and in future periods. We consider 

the specific terms of each arrangement to determine whether we have disposed of an interest in the reserves of the 

respective property. This assessment considers what the counterparty is entitled to and the associated risks and 

rewards attributable to them over the life of the property including the contractual terms related to production over 

the life of the property, the holder of the royalty having the option of either being paid in cash or in kind and the 

associated commitments, if any, to develop future expansions or projects at the property.
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(b)	 Significant accounting estimates

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and any revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised. The following are the key accounting estimates at the end of 

the reporting period that if a change were to occur; it could result in a material adjustment to the carrying value of assets 

and liabilities within the next financial year:

(i)	 Depletion and reserves

Depletion is based on the proved plus probable reserve estimates as evaluated in accordance with the Canadian Oil 

and Gas Evaluation Handbook (COGEH). The process of estimating reserves is complex. It requires significant judg-

ments and decisions based on available geological, geophysical, engineering and economic data. These estimates 

may change substantially as additional data from ongoing development activities and production performance 

becomes available and as economic conditions impacting oil and gas prices and costs change. Future development 

costs are estimated using assumptions as to the number of wells required to produce commercial reserves, the cost 

of such wells and associated production facilities and other capital costs. Although every reasonable effort is made 

to ensure that reserve estimates are accurate, reserve estimation is an inferential science. As a result, subjective 

decisions, new geological or production information and changing environment may impact these estimates.

Changes in these variables could significantly impact the reserves estimates which would have significant impact on 

the impairment test and depletion expense of the Company’s long-lived assets. The Company’s oil and natural gas 

reserves are evaluated and reported to the Company by independent qualified reserve evaluators.

(ii)	 Impairment

The carrying value of the Company’s non-financial assets is assessed for impairment and reversal of impairment 

at each reporting date for indicators that the carrying value of an asset or CGU may be impaired. The recoverable 

amount of individual assets and CGUs is the greater of their fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. These 

calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions and are subject to change as new information becomes 

available. Unless indicated otherwise, the recoverable amount used in assessing impairment charges is fair value 

less costs of disposal. The Company estimates fair value less costs of disposal using an after tax discounted cash 

flow model which has a number of assumptions. The model uses expected cash flows from proved plus probable 

reserves and, in certain circumstances, risk adjusted contingent resources as estimated by the Company’s third party 

reserve evaluators. Reserve estimates and expected future cash flows from production of reserves are subject to 

measurement uncertainty as discussed above and subject to variability to changes in forecasted commodity prices. 

The discount rate applied to the cash flows is also subject to management’s judgment and will affect the recover-

able amount calculated. Changes in estimates and assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount could 

affect the carrying value of the related assets. The discount rate used to assess CGU impairment and reversal of 

impairment in 2016 is disclosed in Note 9 of the consolidated financial statements.

Commodity price changes impact the expected future cash flows which may require a material adjustment to the 

carrying value of property, plant and equipment and E&E assets. The summary of the commodity price forecast used 

to assess CGU impairment and reversal of impairment in 2016 is disclosed in Note 9 of the consolidated financial 

statements.

(iii)	 Decommissioning liabilities

Provisions are recognized for future decommissioning costs of the Company’s E&E and oil and natural gas assets 

at the end of their economic lives. Decommissioning costs are uncertain and cost estimates can vary in response 

to many factors including change to relevant legal and regulatory requirements, the emergence of new restora-

tion techniques, or experience at other production sites. The expected timing and amount of expenditure can 
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also change in response to changes in reserves and or changes in laws and regulations or their interpretations. 

Assumptions have been made to estimate the future liability based on past experience and current factors which 

management believes are reasonable. However, the actual cost of decommissioning is uncertain and the difference 

between actual and estimated costs on the consolidated financial statements of future periods may be material. In 

addition, management determines the appropriate discount rates at the end of each reporting period to determine 

the present value of the estimated future cash outflows required to settle the decommissioning obligations and may 

change in response to numerous risk factors including the risk-free rate and future inflation rates. The inflation factor 

and discount rates used in determining decommissioning liabilities at December 31, 2016 are disclosed in Note 11 of 

the consolidated financial statements.

(iv)	 Deferred tax

Judgment is required in the calculation of deferred taxes in applying tax laws and regulations, estimating the timing 

of reversals of temporary differences and estimating the ability to realize deferred tax assets. Assessing the recover-

ability of deferred tax assets requires the Company to make estimates related to the expectations of future cash 

flows from operations. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ from estimates, the ability of 

the Company to realize the deferred tax assets and liabilities recorded at the balance sheet date could be impacted. 

Additionally, changes in tax laws could limit the ability of the Company to obtain tax deductions in the future. These 

estimates impact deferred tax assets and liabilities, and deferred tax expense (recovery).

(v)	 Stock-based compensation

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options granted. 

The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires the Company to make certain assumptions including the expected 

life of the option, share price volatility, expected forfeitures and anticipated dividends over the life of the options. 

Changes in these assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate of the option which can impact stock-

based compensation expense, stock-based compensation capitalized and contributed surplus.

(vi)	 Risk management contracts

The estimated fair value of the Company’s risk management contracts by their very nature, are subject to measure-

ment uncertainty. Estimates included in the determination of the fair value of risk management contracts include 

forward benchmark prices, discount rates and forward foreign exchange rates. Changes in estimates and assump-

tions used in determining the fair value could affect the carrying value of the related assets (liabilities).

5.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2016 2015

Cash at financial institutions 	 $	 5,368 	 $	 2,300

Cash at financial institutions earns interest at floating rates based on daily deposit rates. As of December 31, 2016, US $0.4 

million (2015 – US $0.9 million) is included in cash at financial institutions. The Company only deposits cash with major 

financial institutions of high quality credit ratings.
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6.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2016 2015

Trade accounts receivable 	 $	 13,206 	 $	 6,264

Receivables from joint operation partners 328 304

Allowance for doubtful accounts (285) (285)

Net accounts receivable 13,249 6,283

Receivable from risk management contracts 48 4,228

Other receivables 94 290

Total trade and other receivables 	 $	 13,391 	 $	 10,801

Aging of trade and other receivables are as follows:

At December 31, 2016 Current
31 to 60

days
61 to 90

days
Over 90

days Total

Trade accounts receivable 	 $	 13,206 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 13,206

Receivables from joint operation partners 2 6 1 319 328

Allowance for doubtful accounts – – – (285) (285)

Receivable from risk management 
contracts 48 – – – 48

Other receivables – – – 94 94

Total trade and other receivables 	 $	 13,256 	 $	 6 	 $	 1 	 $	 128 	 $	 13,391

At December 31, 2015 Current
31 to 60

days
61 to 90

days
Over 90

days Total

Trade accounts receivable 	 $	 6,264 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 6,264

Receivables from joint operation partners 3 6 2 293 304

Allowance for doubtful accounts – – – (285) (285)

Receivable from risk management 
contracts 4,228 – – – 4,228

Other receivables 196 – – 94 290

Total trade and other receivables 	 $	 10,691 	 $	 6 	 $	 2 	 $	 102 	 $	 10,801

7.	 SALE OF A ROYALT Y INTEREST

On December 1, 2016, the Company sold a royalty interest on its Onion Lake property for cash proceeds of $55 million 

whereby the Company will pay an approximate 1.75% royalty on production from substantially all of its Onion Lake lands. 

The holder of the royalty has the option of either being paid in cash or in kind. The royalty has no associated commit-

ments to develop future expansions or projects.

We have recorded this transaction as a disposition of $40.2 million to property, plant and equipment (Note 9) and a $14.8 

million deferred consideration was recorded on the sale of the royalty that will be recognized over the reserve life at 

Onion Lake as revenue. At December 31, 2016, the current portion of deferred consideration is $0.4 million.
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8.	 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

At January 1, 2015 	 $	 166,344

Expenditures 3,477

Change in decommissioning provision (328)

At December 31, 2015 169,493

Expenditures 967

Change in decommissioning provision 277

At December 31, 2016 	 $	 170,737

The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets consist predominately of costs pertaining to the Blackrod SAGD pilot 

project in northern Alberta. These assets are not subject to depletion or depreciation but they are reviewed for possible 

impairment. During 2016, no assets were considered to be impaired.

The transfer of exploration and evaluation assets to property, plant and equipment occurs when commercial viability 

and technical feasibility is established. Technical feasibility and commercial viability is established when significant 

proved reserves are recognized and regulatory approval has been obtained. During the year ended December 31, 2016, 

the Company received regulatory approval for Blackrod SAGD commercial development; however, significant proved 

reserves have yet to be recognized to date.

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company capitalized net operating revenues totalling a gain of $0.1 

million (2015 – loss of $2.1 million) related to the Blackrod SAGD pilot project. The Company did not capitalize any general 

and administrative costs related to exploration activities during the year ended December 31, 2016 (2015 – $Nil).

9.	 PROPERT Y, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Oil and
natural gas
properties Corporate Total

Cost

At January 1, 2015 	 $	 1,170,170 	 $	 3,496 	 $	 1,173,666

Expenditures 64,874 11 64,885

Capitalized stock-based compensation 146 – 146

Change in decommissioning provision 5,455 – 5,455

At December 31, 2015 1,240,645 3,507 1,244,152

Expenditures 9,825 133 9,958

Change in decommissioning provision 3,681 – 3,681

Dispositions (Note 7) (40,170) – (40,170)

At December 31, 2016 	 $	 1,213,981 	 $	 3,640 	 $	 1,217,621

Accumulated depletion and depreciation

At January 1, 2015 	 $	 543,574 	 $	 2,314 	 $	 545,888

Depletion and depreciation 51,781 169 51,950

Impairment 33,000 – 33,000

At December 31, 2015 628,355 2,483 630,838

Depletion and depreciation 44,476 150 44,626

At December 31, 2016 	 $	 672,831 	 $	 2,633 	 $	 675,464

Net book value

December 31, 2015 	 $	 612,290 	 $	 1,024 	 $	 613,314

December 31, 2016 	 $	 541,150 	 $	 1,007 	 $	 542,157
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The calculation of depletion for the year ended December 31, 2016 included estimated future development costs of $814 

million (2015 – $596 million) associated with the development of the Company’s proved plus probable reserves. During 

the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company did not capitalize any borrowing costs related to development activi-

ties (2015 – $2.1 million). The Company did not capitalize any general and administrative costs related to development 

activities during the year ended December 31, 2016 (2015 – $Nil).

At December 31, 2016, the Company performed a review of each of our CGUs for any indicators of impairment. The 

Company has five CGU’s (2015 – five), one for each of our core areas of Onion Lake, Mooney and Blackrod and two CGU’s 

for some of our minor properties. The Company determined the only CGU that had impairment indicators at December 

31, 2016 was the Mooney CGU. 

At December 31, 2016, the Company performed impairment calculations on the Mooney CGU to assess whether the 

respective carrying value was recoverable. The recoverable amount used in assessing impairment was calculated at the 

fair value less costs of disposal using an after tax discounted cash flow model with a discount rate of 11%. At December 31, 

2016, the recoverable amount at the Mooney CGU was greater than the carrying value and no impairment loss or reversal 

was recorded (2015 – $33 million impairment at the Mooney CGU).

The estimated recoverable amount of the Mooney CGU is sensitive to discount rate and forward price estimates. Changes 

to these assumptions, assuming all other variables remained constant, would have the following earnings impact. A one 

percent increase in the assumed discount rate would result in an impairment loss of $12.9 million at the Mooney CGU. 

A ten percent decrease in the forward commodity price estimates would result in an impairment loss of $51.5 million at 

the Mooney CGU. A one percent increase in the assumed discount rate or a ten percent decrease in the commodity price 

estimates would not result in impairment at any of the Company’s other CGUs in 2016. 

The following represents the prices that were used in the December 31, 2016 impairment tests:

Price Forecasts (1)

Year

WTI (2)

Cushing
40° API

WCS (3)

20.5° API

Alberta
AECO-C

Spot Exchange rate

(US$/bbl) (CDN$/bbl) (CDN$/MMBtu) (US$/CDN$)

2017 55.00 53.12 3.44 0.78

2018 65.00 61.85 3.27 0.82

2019 70.00 64.94 3.22 0.85

2020 71.40 66.93 3.91 0.85

2021 72.83 68.27 4.00 0.85

2022 74.28 69.64 4.10 0.85

2023 75.77 71.03 4.19 0.85

2024 77.29 72.45 4.29 0.85

2025 78.83 73.90 4.40 0.85

2026 80.41 75.38 4.50 0.85

2027 82.02 76.88 4.61 0.85

Escalation rate of 2.0% thereafter (4)

(1)	� The benchmark prices listed above as determined by the Company’s independent reserve evaluators, Sproule Unconventional Limited, are ad-
justed for quality differentials, heat content, distance to market and other factors in performing the impairment test for each CGU.

(2)	 West Texas Intermediate (a light oil reference price).

(3)	 Western Canadian Select (a heavy oil reference price.)

(4)	 Percentage change represents the change in each year after 2027 to the end of the reserve life.
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10.	 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

2016 2015

Trade payables and accrued liabilities 	 $	 16,879 	 $	 13,371

Payables to joint operation partners 275 218

Other payables 796 350

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities 	 $	 17,950 	 $	 13,939

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on a 30 to 60 day term.

11.	 DECOMMISSIONING LIABILITIES

The Company’s decommissioning liability is an estimate of the reclamation and abandonment costs arising from the 

Company’s ownership interest in oil and gas assets, including well sites, gathering systems, batteries, processing and 

thermal facilities. The total undiscounted amount of the estimated cash flows required to settle the Company’s liabilities 

is approximately $74.3 million (2015 – $77.0 million). The estimated net present value of the decommissioning liability 

was calculated using an inflation factor of 2.0% (2015 – 1.5%) and discounted using a risk-free rate of 2.0% to 2.3% (2015 

– 2.2%) based on expected settlement date. Settlement of the liability, which may extend up to 40 years in the future, 

is expected to be funded from general corporate funds at the time of retirement. The revision in the inflation rate in 

2016 resulted from the current and forecasted economic climate and is consistent with estimates in the Company’s 

independent reserve report.

Changes to the decommissioning liability were as follows:

2016 2015

Decommissioning liability, beginning of the year 	 $	 66,927 	 $	 60,683

New liabilities recognized 103 15,067

Decommissioning costs incurred (580) (531)

Change in estimated costs of decommissioning (2,813) (7,670)

Change in inflation rate 6,864 (4,883)

Change in discount rate (196) 2,615

Accretion expense 1,461 1,646

Decommissioning liability, end of the year 71,766 66,927

Less current portion of decommissioning liability (644) (535)

Non-current portion of decommissioning liability 	 $	 71,122 	 $	 66,392

12.	 LONG -TERM DEBT

At December 31, 2016, the Company had credit facilities of $117.5 million, consisting of a $107.5 million syndicated revolv-

ing line of credit (2015 – $140 million) and a non-syndicated operating line of credit of $10 million (2015 – $10 million). At 

December 31, 2016, the Company had not drawn any amounts (2015 – $88 million) under these credit facilities and had 

letters of credit issued in the amount of $20,000 (2015 – $20,000); leaving $117.5 million (2015 – $62 million) available to 

be drawn under these facilities. The facilities are secured by a floating and fixed charge debenture on the assets of the 

Company. The amount available under these facilities (“Borrowing Base”) is re-determined at least twice a year and is 

primarily based on the Company’s oil and gas reserves, the lending institution’s forecast commodity prices, the current 

economic environment and other factors as determined by the syndicate of lending institutions. If the total advances 

made under the credit facilities are greater than the re-determined Borrowing Base, the Company has 60 days to repay 

the difference. The next scheduled Borrowing Base redetermination is to occur by May 31, 2017. The facilities are also 

subject to annual reviews by the lenders and the next scheduled review is to be completed by May 27, 2017. If the lenders 
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elected not to renew the credit facilities during the annual review, any amounts outstanding would convert to a term 

loan that would be due and payable in full by May 26, 2018.

Pursuant to the terms of the credit agreement, advances may be made, at the Company’s option, as direct advances, 

LIBOR advances, banker’s acceptances or standby letters of credit/guarantees. These advances bear interest depending 

on the type of advancement at the lender’s prime rate, banker’s acceptance rate or LIBOR rates, plus applicable margins. 

The applicable margin charged by the lender is dependent upon the Company’s debt to EBITDA ratio calculated at the 

Company’s previous fiscal quarter end. The applicable margins range between 2.00% and 3.50%. The lending agree-

ment defines debt as any advances outstanding on the credit facilities plus any outstanding letters of credit/guarantee. 

The lending agreement defines EBITDA as comprehensive loss before income tax, financing charges, non-cash items 

deducted in determining comprehensive loss, unrealized gains or losses on risk management contracts and any income/

losses attributable to assets acquired or disposed of when determining net comprehensive loss for the year as indicated 

on the Company’s consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. The Company also incurs a standby fee for undrawn 

amounts.

Pursuant to the terms of the credit agreement, the Company is required to maintain a working capital ratio of 1:1 at the 

end of each fiscal quarter. Working capital as defined in the lending agreement is current assets, as indicated on the 

Company’s consolidated balance sheet, plus any undrawn amount on the credit facilities compared to current liabili-

ties from the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. In addition, amounts related to risk management contracts are 

excluded from the calculation of current assets and current liabilities. The Company had a working capital ratio of 7.2:1 at 

December 31, 2016 (2015 – 5.3:1) and, accordingly, was in compliance with this covenant at December 31, 2016.

13.	 SHARE CAPITAL

(a)	 Authorized

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares.

(b)	 Common Shares Issued

Number of
Shares

Attributed
Value

Balance as at January 1 and December 31, 2015 335,638,226 	 $	 970,134

Shares issued on exercise of stock options 310,669 271

Transferred from contributed surplus on exercise of stock options – 108

Balance as at December 31, 2016 335,948,895 	 $	 970,513

(c)	 Stock Options Outstanding

The Company has a stock option plan (the “Plan”) available to directors, officers, employees and certain consultants of the 

Company. Under the Plan, the number of common shares to be reserved and authorized for issuance pursuant to options 

granted under the Plan cannot exceed 10% of the total number of issued and outstanding shares in the Company. The 

term and the vesting period of any options granted are determined at the discretion of the Board. The maximum term 

for options granted is ten years; however, all of the options granted by the Company have a term of five years or less. 

The exercise price of the option cannot be less than the five-day volume weighted average trading price of the common 

shares immediately preceding the day the option is granted.
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The following table summarizes stock options outstanding:

Number of Options
Weighted Average

Exercise Price ($)

Outstanding at January 1, 2015 20,916,335 3.00

Granted 11,458,500 0.84

Forfeited (666,666) 2.71

Expired (2,053,000) 4.89

Outstanding at December 31, 2015 29,655,169 2.04

Granted 135,000 0.93

Exercised (310,669) 0.87

Forfeited (478,665) 3.04

Expired (2,074,500) 5.18

Outstanding at December 31, 2016 26,926,335 1.79

Options outstanding and exercisable as at December 31, 2016 are summarized below:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of
Exercise
Prices ($)

Number of
Options

Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price ($)

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Life (Years)

Number of
Options

Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price ($)

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Life (Years)

0.71 – 1.50 11,066,167 0.84 3.48 4,868,391 0.80 3.61

1.51 – 3.00 14,205,668 2.31 2.18 11,687,022 2.24 2.19

3.01 – 3.87 1,654,500 3.73 0.48 1,654,500 3.73 0.48

26,926,335 1.79 2.61 18,209,913 1.99 2.41

The fair value of common share options granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing 

model. During the year ended December 31, 2016, 135,000 options were granted (2015 – 11,458,500). The fair value of 

these options was estimated using the following weighted average assumptions:

Assumptions
Year ended

December 31, 2016
Year ended

December 31, 2015

Risk free interest rate (%) 0.6 0.7

Dividend yield (%) 0.0 0.0

Expected life (years) 3.7 3.7

Expected volatility (%) 55.2 53.9

Forfeiture rate (%) 11.3 12.9

Weighted average fair value of options 	 $	 0.38 	 $	 0.34

(d)	 Stock-based Compensation

Year ended
December 31, 2016

Year ended
December 31, 2015

Gross stock-based compensation 	 $	 3,356 	 $	 6,073

Recoveries from forfeitures (54) (61)

Net stock-based compensations before capitalization 3,302 6,012

Stock-based compensation capitalized to property, plant
and equipment – (146)

Net stock-based compensation 	 $	 3,302 	 $	 5,866
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(e)	 Loss per Share

Basic loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing net and comprehensive loss for the year by the weighted average 

number of common shares outstanding during the year.

The following table shows the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share:

Year ended
December 31, 2016

Year ended
December 31, 2015

Net and comprehensive loss 	 $	 (19,928) 	 $	 (46,793)

Weighted average number of common shares – basic 335,665 335,638

Dilutive effect:

Outstanding options – –

Weighted average number of common shares – diluted 335,665 335,638

Basic loss per share 	 $	 (0.06) 	 $	 (0.14)

Diluted loss per share 	 $	 (0.06) 	 $	 (0.14)

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company used a weighted average market closing price of $1.24 (2015 – $0.93) 

per share to calculate the dilutive effect of stock options. For the year ended December 31, 2016, all outstanding options 

were anti-dilutive (2015 – all outstanding options were anti-dilutive) and were not included in the calculation of diluted 

loss per share.

14.	 INCOME TAXES

(a)	 Income tax expense

The provision for income taxes reflects an effective income tax rate which differs from federal and provincial statutory tax 

rates. The main differences are as follows:

Year ended
December 31, 2016

Year Ended
December 31, 2015

Loss before income taxes 	 $	 (19,928) 	 $	 (54,688)

Corporate income tax rate 27.00% 26.40%

Computed income tax recovery 	 $	 (5,381) 	 $	 (14,438)

Increase (decrease) resulting from:

Changed in unrecognized deferred income tax assets 6,042 1,925

Prior period adjustment (1,448) 3,094

Non-deductible expenses 901 1,549

Changed in enacted tax rates – (148)

Other (114) –

Income tax recovery 	 $	 – 	 $	 (8,018)
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(b)	 Deferred income tax

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities and assets is as follows:

January 1,
2016

(Charged)/credited
to income (loss)

December 31,
2016

Deferred income tax assets:

Decommissioning liabilities 	 $	 18,001 	 $	 1,304 	 $	19,305

Income tax losses carried forward 74,411 16,103 90,514

Deferred consideration – 4,004 4,004

Risk management contracts – 1,609 1,609

Share issue costs 549 (186) 363

92,961 22,834 115,795

Deferred income tax liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment (90,443) (25,352) (115,795)

Risk management contracts (2,518) 2,518 –

(92,961) (22,834) (115,795)

Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 –

January 1,
2015

(Charged)/credited
to income (loss)

December 31,
2015

Deferred income tax assets:

Decommissioning liabilities 	 $	 15,509 	 $	 2,492 	 $	 18,001

Income tax losses carried forward 55,390 19,021 74,411

Share issue costs 694 (145) 549

71,593 21,368 92,961

Deferred income tax liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment (74,316) (16,127) (90,443)

Risk management contracts (5,295) 2,777 (2,518)

(79,611) (13,350) (92,961)

Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) 	 $	 (8,018) 	 $	 8,018 	 $	 –

(c)	 Unrecognized deferred tax assets

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had $335 million (2015 – $276 million) non-capital losses set to expire no earlier 

than 2026.

Certain deferred income tax assets have not been recognized as it not probable that future taxable profit will be available 

against which the benefits can be utilized. These tax assets relate to non-producing assets located in the United States 

and certain resources pools in Canada that are restricted through successor rules.

The Company has temporary differences associated with its investments in its foreign subsidiaries. The Company has no 

deferred tax liabilities in respect of these temporary differences.

The Company had no current tax payable in 2016 or 2015.
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15.	 SALARY AND OTHER COMPENSATION EXPENSES

(a)	 Employee compensation expenses

The following table provides a breakdown of gross salaries, benefits, stock-based compensation and other compensa-

tion expenses included in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss:

Year ended
December 31, 2016

Year Ended
December 31, 2015

Production expense (1) 	 $	 1,438 	 $	 1,451

General and administrative expense 3,699 4,138

Stock-based compensation 3,302 5,866

	 $	 8,439 	 $	 11,455

(1)	 Excludes amounts paid to contractors and consultants.

(b)	 Key management compensation

Key management includes the Company’s directors and officers. At December 31, 2016, directors and senior manage-

ment consisted of eight individuals (2015 – eight individuals).

The following table summarizes the compensation of key management:

Year ended
December 31, 2016

Year Ended
December 31, 2015

Salary and employee benefits 	 $	 1,095 	 $	 1,196

Stock-based compensation 1,563 2,844

	 $	 2,658 	 $	 4,040

16.	 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Thereafter

Operating leases (1) 	 $	 960 	 $	 885 	 $	 687 	 $	 556 	 $	 545 	 $	 –

Electrical service agreement (2) 1,000 585 119 119 119 1,868

Transportation service agreement (3) 135 135 135 33 – –

Decommissioning liabilities (4) 644 428 347 8,992 1,651 62,242

Capital commitments (5) 5,000 – – – – –

Total 	 $	 7,739 	 $	 2,033 	 $	 1,288 	 $	 9,700 	 $	 2,315 	 $	 64,110

(1)	 The Company’s most significant operating lease is for office space.

(2)	 The Company entered into certain long-term agreements to acquire electricity for one of its processing facilities.

(3)	 The Company entered into certain long-term agreements to transport natural gas to one of its facilities.

(4)	� The Company also has ongoing obligations related to the decommissioning of well sites and facilities which have reached the end of their eco-
nomic lives. The undiscounted estimated obligations associated with the retirement of the Company’s oil and gas properties were $74.3 million as 
at December 31, 2016. Decommissioning programs are undertaken regularly in accordance with applicable legislative requirements.

(5)	� The Company entered into certain agreements pertaining to the construction of the second phase of the Onion Lake thermal project.
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17.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s financial instruments as at December 31, 2016 include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receiv-

ables, deposits within prepaid expenses and deposits, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and risk management 

liabilities.

(a)	 Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, deposits and accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities approximate their carrying amount due to the short-term nature of the instruments. The fair value of the 

Company’s long-term debt approximates its carrying value as the interest rates charged on this debt are comparable 

to current market rates. The fair values of the Company’s risk management contracts are determined by discounting the 

difference between the contracted prices and published forward price curves as at the balance sheet date, using the 

remaining contracted oil volumes and a risk-free interest rate (based on published government rates). 

The following table summarizes the carrying value and fair value of the Company’s risk management assets and liabilities.

 December 31, 2016  December 31, 2015

Measurement
Level

Carrying
Amount Fair Value

Carrying
Amount Fair Value

Financial Assets

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss:

Risk management assets 2 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 10,548 	 $	 10,548

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss:

Risk management liabilities 2 	 $	 5,959 	 $	 5,959 	 $	 1,223 	 $	 1,223

The fair values of financial instruments have been determined by various valuation methods as defined below:

●	� Level 1:	 fair value is based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

●	�� Level 2: 	fair value is based on inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

●	�� Level 3: 	fair value is based on inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs).

(b)	 Risks associated with financial instruments

The following summarizes the risks associated with the Company’s financial instruments:

(i)	 Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a third party fails to meet its contractual obligations that could result in the Company 

incurring a loss.

As at December 31, 2016, the Company held $5.4 million (2015 – $2.3 million) in cash at various major financial institu-

tions throughout Canada and the USA; however, one Canadian financial institution held over 94% (2015 – 82%) of 

our cash and short-term deposits. The financial institution is a Canadian provincial crown corporation with a high 

investment grade rating and therefore we believe the credit risk is limited.
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At December 31, 2016, 99% of receivables were from oil and gas marketers related to the sale of our oil and gas 

production. Receivables from oil and gas marketers are generally collected on the 25th day of the month following 

production. The Company attempts to mitigate the credit risk associated with these marketers by assessing their 

financial strength and entering into relationships with larger purchasers with established credit history. During 2016 

and 2015, the Company did not experience any collection issues with its marketers.

In 2016, the Company had four customers (2015 – four) which individually accounted for more than 10 percent of its 

total oil and gas sales. Oil and gas sales to these collective customers represented approximately 87% (2015 – 80%) 

of the Company’s total oil and gas sales in 2016.

Risk management assets and liabilities consist of commodity contracts used to manage the Company’s exposure 

to fluctuations in commodity prices. The Company manages the credit risk exposure related to risk management 

contracts by selecting investment grade counterparties and by not entering into contracts for trading or specula-

tive purposes. During 2016 and 2015, the Company did not experience any collection issues with risk management 

contracts.

The Company typically does not obtain or post collateral or security from its oil and natural gas marketers or financial 

institution counterparties. The carrying amounts of accounts receivable represent the maximum credit exposure. 

The Company is not the operator of certain oil and natural gas properties in which it has an ownership interest. The 

Company is dependent on such operators for the timing of activities related to such properties and will largely be 

unable to direct or control the activities of the operators. In addition, the Company’s activities may be impacted by 

the ability, expertise, judgment and financial capability of the operators.

(ii)	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk the Company is unable to meet its financial obligations as they come due. Liquidity risk also 

includes the risk of not being able to liquidate assets in a timely manner at a reasonable price. The Company has an 

on-going cash flow planning and forecasting model to help determine the funds required to meet its operational 

needs at all times. In addition, the Company manages its liquidity risk by ensuring that it has access to multiple 

sources of capital including cash and cash equivalents, cash from operating activities, undrawn credit facilities and 

opportunities to issue additional equity. As at December 31, 2016, the Company had $117.5 million available on its 

credit facilities. Management believes that these sources will be adequate to settle the Company’s financial liabilities 

and commitments.

The maturity dates for the Company’s undiscounted cash outflows related to financial liabilities are as follows:

<6 Months 6 months - 1 Year 1 - 2 Years

2016

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17,950 – –

Risk management liabilities 2,826 2,681 452

2015

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13,939 – –

Risk management liabilities – – 1,223

Long-term debt (1) 1,672 1,672 89,393

(1)	 Includes principal and interest. Interest is based on rates existing at December 31, 2015.
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(iii)	 Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that a financial instrument, or cash flows associated with the instrument, will fluctu-

ate due to changes in market interest rates. The Company is exposed to interest rate risk related to interest expense 

on its credit facilities due to the floating interest rate charged on advances. For the year ended December 31, 2016, 

if interest rates had been one percent higher with all other variables held constant, after tax net loss for the year 

would have been approximately $788,000 higher (2015 – $207,000 higher). In addition, the Company is exposed to 

interest rate risk on its excess cash balances. As at December 31, 2016, if interest rates had been 1 percent higher 

with all other variables held constant, after tax net loss for the year ended December 31, 2016 would have been 

approximately $40,000 lower (2015 – $55,000 lower). The Company has not entered into any fixed rate contracts to 

mitigate its interest rate risk.

(iv)	 Foreign currency exchange risk

The Company is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and the volatility 

of those rates. This exposure primarily relates to: (i) revenues received for the sale of its crude oil production are 

primarily priced in US dollars while most of the Company’s operating and capital expenditures are denominated in 

Canadian dollars and (ii) certain deposits and accounts payable are denominated in US dollars. As at December 31, 

2016, the Company has not entered into any fixed rate contracts to mitigate its currency risks.

As at December 31, 2016, the Company held US $0.4 million (2015 – US $0.9 million) in cash and cash equivalents. 

If exchange rates to convert from US dollars to Canadian dollars had been $0.10 lower with all other variables held 

constant, after tax net loss for the year would have been approximately $37,000 higher (2015 – $62,000 higher) as a 

result of the re-valuation of the Company’s US dollar denominated financial assets and liabilities as at December 31, 

2016. An equal opposite impact would have occurred to net loss had exchange rates been $0.10 higher.

(v)	 Commodity price risk

Commodity price risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in the price of oil and 

natural gas. Commodity prices are impacted by world economic events that affect supply and demand, which are 

generally beyond the Company’s control. Changes in crude oil prices may significantly affect the Company’s results 

of operations, cash generated from operating activities, capital spending and the Company’s ability to meet its 

obligations. The majority of the Company’s production is sold under short-term contracts; consequently BlackPearl 

is at risk to near term price movements. The Company manages this risk by constantly monitoring commodity prices 

and factoring them into operational decisions, such as contracting or expanding its capital expenditures program. 

Natural gas currently represents less than 2% (2015 – 5%) of the Company’s total production and, as a result, any 

fluctuation in natural gas prices would have a nominal effect on current revenues.

From time to time, the Company enters into certain risk management contracts in order to manage the exposure 

to market risks from fluctuations in commodity prices. These risk management contracts are not used for trading 

or speculative purposes. The Company has not designated its risk management contracts as effective accounting 

hedges, and thus has not applied hedge accounting, even though the Company considers all risk management 

contracts to be economic hedges. As a result, all risk management contracts are recorded at fair value at each 

reporting period with the change in fair value being recognized as an unrealized gain or loss on the statement of 

comprehensive loss.
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Risk management amounts recognized were as follows:

Year ended
December 31, 2016

Year Ended
December 31, 2015

Realized gain on risk management contracts 	 $	 10,793 	 $	 37,227

Unrealized loss on risk management contracts (15,283) (11,303)

Gain (loss) on risk management contracts 	 $	 (4,490) 	 $	 25,924

The table below summarizes the Company’s outstanding commodity contracts as at December 31, 2016:

Subject of 
Contract Volume Term Reference Strike Price Type Fair value

2017

Oil 500 bbls/d January 1 to
December 31

CDN$ WCS CDN$ 52.75/bbl Swap 	 $	 (205)

Oil 1,000 bbls/d January 1 to
December 31

CDN$ WCS CDN$ 50.00/bbl Swap (1,409)

Oil 1,000 bbls/d January 1 to
December 31

CDN$ WCS CDN$ 49.50/bbl Swap (1,687)

Oil 500 bbls/d January 1 to  
June 30

CDN$ WCS CDN$ 40.00/bbl to  
52.50/bbl

Collar (320)

Oil 500 bbls/d January 1 to  
June 30

CDN$ WCS CDN$ 40.00/bbl to  
47.00/bbl

Collar (631)

Oil 1,000 bbls/d January 1 to
December 31

US$ WTI US$ 60.00/bbl Sold Call (1,255)

2018

Oil 500 bbls/d January 1 to
December 31

US$ WTI US$ 70.00/bbl Sold Call (452)

Total 	 $	 (5,959)

Current portion of fair value of contracts 	 $	 (5,507)

Non-current portion of fair value of contracts 	 $	 (452)

As at December 31, 2016, a 10% decrease to the oil price used to calculate the fair value for the risk management 

contracts would result in an approximate $7.5 million increase in fair value of these contracts and decrease in the 

after tax net loss for the year.

The table below summarizes commodity contracts the Company entered into subsequent to December 31, 2016:

Subject of Contract Volume Term Reference Strike Price Type

2017

Oil 500 bbls/d February 1 to December 31 CDN$ WCS CDN$ 54.30/bbl Swap

Oil 500 bbls/d February 1 to December 31 US$ WCS US$ 40.15/bbl Swap

(c)	 Capital Management

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard our ability to continue as a going concern in order 

to pursue the development of our oil and gas properties and to maintain a capital structure that optimizes the cost of 

capital at an acceptable risk. The Company’s capital structure consists of working capital, long-term debt and sharehold-

ers’ equity. Additional funding will likely be required to continue to develop some of the Company’s thermal assets as 

the existing credit facilities and cash flows from operating activities will not be sufficient to fully fund their development 
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given the relatively large capital expenditures required to bring the assets into production. The Company will evaluate 

funding options for these projects, which includes acquiring additional debt financing, further equity offerings, entering 

into joint venture agreements and/or using proceeds from the disposition of properties.

In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may from time to time issue additional common shares. 

In addition, the Company’s credit facilities are based, in part, on its petroleum and natural gas reserves whose values 

are impacted by, among other things, global commodity prices. The Company will adjust its capital spending if access 

to external capital sources is unavailable. In order to manage the balance in the Company’s capital structure, some of 

the financial tests that BlackPearl considers are debt-to-equity ratios, debt-to-cash-flow from operating activities and 

interest coverage tests, which is calculated as earnings before interest, taxes, depletion, depreciation and amortization 

(EBITDA) over interest expense. At December 31, 2016, the Company had a debt to EBITDA ratio of zero (2015 – 1.75). We 

target to maintain a debt to EBITDA ratio of less than 1.5; however, during the construction phase of our large assets and 

before production commences or during a period of low commodity prices, this will likely be exceeded. To facilitate the 

management and control of these ratios, the Company prepares annual operating and capital budgets. These budgets 

are generally updated quarterly or more frequently if circumstances change.

The Company’s current policy is to not pay dividends but rather to reinvest its earnings back into the business.

18.	 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

(a)	 The following table summarizes the cash interest paid:

Year ended
December 31, 2016

Year Ended
December 31, 2015

Cash interest paid 	 $	 3,262 	 $	 3,498

(b)	 The following table summarizes finance costs included on the statement of comprehensive loss:

Year ended
December 31, 2016

Year Ended
December 31, 2015

Gross interest and financing charges 	 $	 3,262 	 $	 3,498

Capitalized interest and financing charges – (2,066)

Net interest and financing charges 3,262 1,432

Accretion of decommissioning liabilities 1,461 1,646

Finance costs 	 $	 4,723 	 $	 3,078

(c)	� The following table reconciles the changes in non-cash working capital as disclosed in the consolidated statements 

of cash flows:

Year ended
December 31, 2016

Year Ended
December 31, 2015

Changes in non-cash working capital

Trade and other receivables 	 $	 (2,590) 	 $	 7,666

Inventory 559 33

Prepaid expenses and deposits 578 (283)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,965 (46,954)

Changes in non-cash working capital 	 $	 2,512 	 $	 (39,538)

Relating to:

Operating activities 	 $	 (1,704) 	 $	 13,913

Investing activities 	 $	 4,216 	 $	 (53,451)


